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INTRODUCTION

The East Texas Timber Region is the part of the state

first settled by pioneers from the Eastern States. The

Timber Region extends from the Coastal Prairie on the south-

east to another prairie section on the north and west. The

general surface in the southern part is gently rolling but

rises higher in the north. The abundant rainfall, timber,

and porous soil provided water enough underground to supply

springs, wells, and streams which supplied water enough for

the early colonists. 1

Several things were considered by the early settlers

when they made East Texas the choice for new homes. Some

were: (1) they wanted to have access to a navigable river

near the Gulf so that supplies could be secured easily;

(2) they wanted to be near some road by which they could

communicate with other places when necessary; (3) they

needed wood and water; and (4) they preferred bottom lands

which could be easily cultivated. All these were found in

the Timber Region.2

Indians lived in East Texas long before the coming of

the French and Spanish. The Indians of Texas comprised

about five main groups. The Texas or the Hasinai Indians

H. Smith and D. Walker, Geography of Thxas, p. 16.

2E. Smith and D. Walker, Geography of Texas, p. 16.
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occupied the region between the Sabine and Trinity Rivers

in territory now Houston, Angelina, Cherokee, Nacogdoches,

and San Augustine Counties.3 The word "Texas" was used by

the tribes who were friendly. The Hasinai Indians applied

it to themselves, and after the coming of the Spanish, the

name was used. in all the province. The Indians of the East

Texas Region were divided into about twelve tribes with one

tribe being supreme. 4

A starting point from which to determine the location

of most of the tribes was the founding of the mission of

Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe at the main village of the

Nacogdoches in 1716, for it can be shown that this mission

reaned on the same site until 1773.5 The Hasinai Indian

group has also been called the Southern Caddo, and was com-

posed of about a dozen small tribes living in the valleys

of the Angelina and leches Rivers. Each tribe had a civil

chief; there were also wrar chiefs. To the northwest on the

Led River lived the Caddo Indians who lived like the Hasinai

and spoke nearly the sane language. To the east of the

Hasina .were the Ais and Adaes and to the southeast were the

3. W. NTorvell, Texas, p. 5.

4G. LC Orocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 5.

H. E. Bolton, "The Native Tribes About the East Texas
Missions," Texas Historical Association quarterly, XI
(1908), 258-259.



Bidai. These tribes were settled Timber dwellers. When

the Spanish came to Texas, the AsinaL tribe lived in a

province that was very fertile and suitable for planting. 6

The East Texas Indizns lived in relatively fixed loca-

tions and were agricultural tribes. They lived in loosely

built agricultural villages surrounded by their fields. The

Indian homes wert scattered for miles around the villages,

and thmre seems to have been a main village which was re-

garded as the tribal headquarters. The greatest disad-

vantage to these Indians was that the region was very thick-

ly covered with a variety of trees with little open country.

The timber tribes were more advanced than any of the

other groups. The women worked the fields, and for food

they planted maize or corn, one early and one late kind;

beans of several varieties, watermelons, muskrelons, cal-

abashes, and sunflowers. They also raised tobacco. Their

agricultural tools were crude. They had no iron axes or

plows to till the soil, but killed the trees by fire and

scratched the surface of the ground with hoes made of wood,

stone, or the bones of animals. They hunted wild animals

in the YoOds, andC gathered nuts, acorns, wild fruit, and

different kinds of roots.

The Indian homes were conical huts consisting of a

6 . A. Hatcher, "Description of the Tejas or Asinai
Indians," Southwestern Historical quarterly, XXX (1927),
209-211.
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framework of poles, supported by notched stakes interlaced

with willow limbs. That was covered with a thatch of grass

and surmounted by a tall spire or tuft of grass about two

feet high. Each house usually had four doors. The fire-

place was in the center and the smoke escaped through a

hole near the top on the east side. Around the wall, couches

were built which served for seats during the day and beds at

night. The houses were arranged about an open space which

served for ceremonial and social gatherings. These were

the conditions of the Indians when the Spanish began to

settle east Texas.



CHAPTER I

THE SPANISH AND FRENCH IN EAST T EXAS

Spanish explorers came to Texas before the French ar-

rived. Cabeza de Vaca sent several years in Texas among

the Indians. After the death of De Soto in 1542, his men

crossed into the northeastern part of Texas. However, La

Salle was the first to attempt a settlement and gave France

a claim to Texas. La Salle had made explorations in the New

World and in 1685 attempted to make a settlement on the his-

sissippi River. He missed the mouth of the Mississippi and

landed on the coast of Texas.' It is not known whether he

did this intentionally or accidentally; nevertheless he had

great misfortune as a result of his landing in Texas. La

Salle had trouble with his men; and while he was searching

for his companions, who had been captured by Indians, his
ship carrying his supplies for the settlement grounded. If

all the men had worked together, the supplies would have

been saved; but many refused and the ship was carried away

before some of the supplies could be removed. Indians began

to steal the things that had been saved. La Salle was not

discouraged, and he decided to explore the country. There

were 220 Frencmen, and La Salle ordered the construction of

a fort. He took fifty men and started exploring the region

1F. J. Morfi, Histor'y of Texas, Vol. 1, p. 121.

5
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but had to return to the fort on account of Indians. La

Salle found a place farther inland that he liked better for

a fort; so he had all the men at the first site to join him

and they began work on a second fort. The new fort was

called St. Louis.

La Salle then made a journey which lasted more than

three months. He was well satisfied to have discovered a

beautiful country. His last ship was wrecked and he had

only a few supplies left. He did not pay much attention to

his misfortune, but it made a deep impression on the settle-

ment. On January 12, 1687, La Salle left Fort St. Louis

with twelve men. 2 Five men, Duhaut, James, Liotot,

l Archeveque, and Teissier, decided to kill La Salle. First

they killed his nephew and friends. While searching for his

nephew, La Salle was shot through the head by Duhaut. Fort

St. Louis was a failure as a permanent settlement for the

French, but it served to frighten the Spanish into trying

to settle Texas.

In 1686 a French frigate, called Nuestra Senora de

Regla, was captured in the Gulf of Mexico by the Spanish.

They learned from the crew of La Salle's settlement, and ex-

peditions were sent out to search for the fort. A Frenchman

named Juan Enrique was captured and taken to Mexico City.

He told the viceroy of La Salle's attempt at settlement,

2F. J. orfi, History of Texas, Vol. I, p. 130.
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and offered to lead an expedition into Texas. The Spanish

were anxious to find La Salle's settlement, because they

felt that Texas belonged to Spain. They claimed Texas be-

cause of: (1) the discovery of America by Columbus; (2) the

conquests of Cortez; and (3) the explorations of Spanish

officers, such as De Soto, Cabeza de Vaca, and others who

passed through Texas. In order to stop the French from

taking Texas, the viceroy ordered Alonso de Leon to explore

the country and to question La Salle if he found him. 3 De

Leon carried only a few men; he did not expect to dislodge

the French but thought they might leave when informed of

the Spanish rights.

le Le6n reached Texas and proceeded to the place where

La Salle had built his fort. He found the fort destroyed,

the people all gone, the houses sacked, and all the furniture

that the settlers had possessed broken. He found the leaves

of many books written in French scattered over the ground.

It seemed that the destroyers had ruined everything they

could not use themselves. The houses had been built of

plaster and palisades and were useless for any defense. On

the facing of the principal door of the fort was inscribed

the year 1684, when the settlement was established. 4 De

ZG. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 13.
. '. Clark, "The Beginnings of Texas," Texas Historical

Association Quarterl, V (1902), 175-176.

4C. J. Hackett, Pichardo's Treatise on the Limits of
Louisiana and Texas, Vl. 1, pp. 139-140.
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Leon found two brenchnen Who were survivors of the settle-

ment. They told him that more than one hundred had died of

smallpox and that the others had been killed by the Caran-

caguases Indians. He took the men and returned to Mexico to

give the viceroy an account of what he had found.

The viceroy realized that he had made a mistake by not

ordering a settlement made in Texas. He immediately ordered

De Le'n to return to Texas and make a settlement. De Lebn

took one hundred ten ren and some religious men with him.5

He reached East Texas safely, raised the Spanish standard,

and took possession of the country for Spain. The mission-

aries then founded the first mission in 1690 and called San

Francisco de los Tejas, as it was built in the middle of the

Tejas region.6 The distance from the Tejas village when

the church was built to the Neches River was about three

leagues in a general northeastern direction. The mission

was built in the Tejas village, which has been identified

as San Pedro Creek. The actual site has been placed by

Bolton on the San Pedro Creek northwest of Neches some six

or eight miles west of the Neches River. Father lassanet

was given charge of the mission. The second mission, San-

tissino Nombre de L arfa, was built later a few miles north-

5F. J Morfi, Historyaof Texas, Vol. I, p. 152.

6A. Woldert, "Location of Tejas Indian Villages and
Spanish Missions," Southwestern Historical Quarterly,
XXXVIII (1935), 206. C. E. Castaneda, Our Catholic Heri-
tae in Texas, Vol. I, p. 353.
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east of the first. In the fall of 1691, Father Fray Jess

Maria founded the new mission on the banks of the Neches

River about five miles from San Francisco de los Tejas. De

Lebn learned from the Indians that a white man had been

visiting with them and trying to influence them against the

Spanish. le believed the white man to have been Tonti, La

Salle's lieutenant, from Fort St. Louis. De Leon saw the

mission finished; and leaving three soldiers and three mis-

sionaries, he returned to Mexico.

The first mission was not very successful, and the

Indians wanted to return to their uncivilized ways of liv-

ing. De Lebn had chosen soldiers that he thought would be

all right to live in the mission, but they were harsh and

cruel to the Indians. They soon grew to hate the bold Euro-

peans and were afraid of losing their lands. The condition

of the mission grew steadily worse. A flood destroyed the

crop, and it was followed by a drought which caused a scar-

eity of food. The Indians became hostile, because of their

medicine men and because of the wickedness of the soldiers,

who paid no attention to the priests.

De Lean reported to the Spanish government of the fer-

tility and vastness of the new territory and of the desire

of the Indians for missionaries. He also told the author-

ities that it would be easy to discover other Indian na-

tions, convert them to the Catholic religion, and then make

them vassals of the Spanish government. As a result of his



10

report, the King gave permission to the Franciscan iission-

aries to convert the Indians. 7  The Kin6 of Spain ordered

another expedition to Texas, and the viceroy appointed

Domingo Tera.n de los Rios to undertake a land journey. He

was given fifty soldiers, each of whom was paid 400 pesos

a year; fourteen missionary fathers; and seven lay brothers,

all Franciscans. They reached the mission San Francisco de

los Tejas August 4, 1691. The King had ordered new missions

to be founded and the work was soon started. The soldiers

began to annoy the Indians, and Teran refused to discipline

them when the missionaries complained. Teran was irritated

by the check on his authority by the missionaries and, since

he could find no riches, decided to go back to Lexico. He

left fifteen missionaries with ten soldiers and one corporal

to protect them.

Teran seems to have made a terrible mistake because he

caused the loss of the province at that time for Spain. The

following winter was so severe that the wheat crop was de-

stroyed and many of the cattle died. There was very little

food, and the soldiers became more quarrelsome every day

and begged the missionaries to leave East Texas. In 1695

Salinas was sent to the mission to carry supplies and the

Spanish government sent word for the missionaries to leave

the missions. The Indians were growing more hostile; so the

7
FJ. Morfi, istory of Texas, Vol. I, p. 155.



11

priests becme afraid and buried what they could not carry

and fled to Mexico. Thus it seemed that the first attempt

at permanent settlement by the Spanish was a complete fail-

ure.'

For twenty years neither France nor Spain tried to

colonize Texas.9 Even though Spain failed in the first

attempt at settlement, some good resulted. The first fail-

ure helped the Spanish to succeed the next tine. They be-

came familiar with the country and named some of the rivers.

Dim trails began to be marked out; and good csmping places,

which later became flourishing towns, were selected. The

site of the present city of San Antonio was noticed by the

Saint-Denis expedition. The Spanish learned something of

the Indian language and how to manage them.

To understand more fully why the Spanish established

the first mission and continued to establish others for

several years, something of the political conditions of

that time must be known. The French were established in

Louisiana along the ffississippi River. After the unsuccess-

ful attempt of La Salle, the French had not given up en-

tirely their intention of settling the lower lississippi

region which they claimed. Toward the end of the century

another attempt was made, their objective being Pensacola

8G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 15.

9 C. E. Castaneda, Our Catholic Hlritage in Texas,
Vol. II, p. 16.
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Bay in Spanish Florida; but findin5 the Spanish there, Sieur

d'Iberville, the French colonizer, moved on to Biloxi Bay

to establish a settlementI.The FPencn became active, and in

1710 Sieur d'Bienville founded a trading post at the present

site of hobile.lO The French also settled the post of Natch-

itoches. W<hen Saint-Denis appeared in Texas, the Spanish

were startled and saw that it was necessary to take defensive

action against the French. Spain knew that if she wanted to

keep Texws for herself, France mst not gain a .oothold in

the province. T he Spanish government decided to build mis-

sions to help gpard the frontier against the enemies. Yet

another reason for settling the East Texas region was be-

cause of the Texas Indians, who were the most powerful and

influential nations in the province of Texas. They were

somewhat civilized and wanted missionaries in East Texas.

So the Spanish, considering both Church and State, planted

the first missions on the extreme eastern border, with the

most extreme mission barely fifteen miles from atchiteches.

In 1713 the Spanish were again alarmed by French ac-

tivities near the East Texas region. On September 12, 1712,

Louis XV granted the monopoly of trade of Louisiana to

Antoine Crozat for fifteen years. The French wanted to

open trade with the Spanish in Mexico; also, they hoped to

gain much wealth from the Indians and from the mines that

Heusinger, lEarl xplorations and Mission s-
tablisbments in Texas, p. 56.
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were believed to be in the New World. When Crozat communi-

cated with the Spanish authorities, they refused to trade

with h yand declared that New Spain was absolutely closed

to all foreign commerce." The French decided the only way

to trade would be through Texas by land. The governor of

Loui si na, . Lamothe Cadillac, received a letter written by

a missionary near Coahuila who had been wanting to return to

the Iejas Indians. Father Hidalgo gave up all hope of in-

teresting the Spanish to send him back to the Indians and

let him rebuild the mission. He wrote to the Louisiana gov-

ernor asking about the Indians and wanting help to establish

mis s ions among them. Cadillac was ready to help the Spanish

build missions if he could secure the supplies he needed for

his colonjfrom New Spain. Cadillac did not realize at that

time that every Spanish m ission was a blow to French claims.

An overland expedition was organized to go in searchiof

Father Hidalgo and to get horses ad cattle for the colony

of Louisina.

The leader for the expedition had to be a man of expe-

rience, shrewd and capable of dealing with the Indians. The

man chosen for the position was Louis Juchereau de St. Denis.

He agreed to take ten thousand livers of merchandise from

the public store and sell it in Texico. His passport read,

The Sieur de Caint-Denis is to take twenty-four men and as

Lh. C. Clark, "Louis Juchereau de Saint-Denis," Texas
istorc al Association uarterly, V (1903), 6-7.



14

many Indians as necessary and with them to go in search of

the mission of Fray Francisco Hidalgo in response to his

letter of January 17, 1711, and there to purchase horses and

cattle for the province of Louisiana."1 2  Castaneda tells us

that the passport was dated September 12, 1713, San Fran-

cisco el Grande Archive, VIII, 26. News of the expedition

was known before this date, and the viceroy was warned of

the French activities. In 1714 the party set out for the

village of the Tonicas, which was two leagues above the

mouth of the Red River. They moved on to the village of the

Natchitoches Indians and built two storehouses to store a

part of their merchandise. Saint-Denis told the Indians

they must cultivate the land and gave them grain to plant.

He said that the French would always be among them and they

need fear no hostile Indians. He left a few French at the

village and continued his explorations. He next went to the

village of the Asinai and lived there about six months. He

traded a large amount of his goods for cattle, horses, and

buffalo hides. Ramnon in 1716 found the Indians with French

guns, beads, knives, and red and blue cloth; they told him

the French gave them in exchange for hides and horses.

It seems that Saint-Denis must have returned to Natchez

and given an account of his success and secured further in-

structions. He had not found Father Hidalgo, and he must

12E. C. Casta ieda, Our Catholic Heritage in Texas,
Vol. II, p. 28.
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have secured fresh supplies before repairing to the Asi-

nais. Salinas Varona's letters of August 20, 1713, and

October 20, 1715, seem to show that part of the F rencImen

returned to Mobile with what they gained from their trade;

and also Domingo Rambn's letter of July 26, 1716, is proof

of the extensive trade carried on by Saint-Denis among the

Te jas .13The Indians begged Saint-Denis to ask the Spanish

missionaries to return to East Texas and build missions.

Early in the fall of 1714 Saint-Denis started for the

Presidio of San Juan Bautista on the Rio Grande River. With

three other Frenchmen, Medar Jalot, Largen, and Penicault

Bernardino, two Te jas captains, and one other Indian, he

arrived at San Juan Bautista, located two leagues beyond the

Rio Grande. He told the Sranish authorities that he had

cone from Louisiana to purchase grain and cattle and, find-

ing the East Texas mission abandoned, had continued his

search for t he Spanish. The captain placed the Frencbmen

under arrest and kept them in i s home and sent word of

their arrival to the viceroy. The viceroy had Saint-Denis

taken to Mexico City.

Saint-Denis could have established himself in East

Texas before the Spanish authorities could have known what

he was doing. But he was not very interested in taking

Texas; he and the French governor wanted a neighbor with whom

13. C. Castaneda, Our Catholic Heritage in Texas,
\ol. 11, p. 29.
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they might have a profitable trade.l4 The Spanish became

alarmed when Saint-Denis arrived in Mexico and immediately

began planning to make permanent settlements in East Tex-

as. 1 5 By building permanent settlements, Spanish claims

would be strengthened and French claims weakened. The real

significance of the Saint-Denis expedition was that the

ownership of Texas and the future history of Texas were de-

cided.

In Mexico City Saint-Denis told of the Indian affection

for the Spanish, and of the richness of the province of Tex-

as. The viceroy thought that Spain should send missionaries

at once to East Texas to begin building a new mission. A

general meeting was held and the viceroy was to provide

soldiers and missionaries with everything needed for an ex-

pedition. The soldiers and missionaries were to civilize

the Indians and establish settlements to prevent the French

from taking Toxas. Domingo Ram6n was to lead the expedition

into Texas. Saint-Denis had made himself useful to the

Spanish; so when he offered to lead then into Texas, he was

made conductor of supplies. While in the service of the

Spanish he corresponded with the French governor. In

Ram6n's expedition were twenty-two soldiers, twelve friars,

two men with their families, thirteen unmarried men, seven

married women, probably wives of the soldiers, one girl and

4GL. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 21
15

H. E. Bolton, Colonization of_ North Amirerica, p. 278.
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two small children, one negro, and five Indians. IViorfi

says there were twenty-five soldiers and five missionaries.

The group was Met by Indians who expressed joy that the

Spanish were returning and accompanied them on into the

East. Saint-Denis went ahead of the Spanish to tell the

Texas Indians of their coming. The Indians eane to meet

Rantn and showed him a great welcome. Ramdn distributed

presents to the Indians and appointed the son of Bernardino

as chief of the Texas and governor of the Indians. He

founded six missions: San Francisco de los Neches, Purisima

Concepcion, Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe de los Nacogdoches,

San Jose de los Nasones, Nuestra Senora de los Dolores de

los Ais, and San Uiguel de los Adaes, the last only seven

leagues from Natchitoches.1 6 Over five thousand Indians

cane to then missions, and the Spanish had great hopes of

converting them.

On July 3, 1716, the missionaries, Ramn, and many of

the Indians crossed the Neches River and went to the place

chosen for the reestablishment of the first mission. It

was a spot in the middle of the Neche village located from

two to four miles from the river crossing and about four

leagues farther east than the original location. The mis-

sionaries fixed a temporary shelter of leafy branches,

moved into it, and made formal distribution of the equip-

ment and supplies provided for each of the missions. On

16p. J. Lorfi, History of Texas, Vol. I, p. 187.
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July 5 Domingo Ram~n formally appointed a Cabildo for the

Indian pueblo and gave official possession of the mission

to Father Qray Isidro Felix de Espinosa. The new mission

was named .iuestro Padre San Francisco de los Tejas. Father

Fray Manuel Castellanos was arpointed for the spiritual care

of tie soldiers. When the ceremonies were all over, Captain

Ramon started out to build another mission.

The second establishtGent was to be the mission La

Purisina Concepcidn and was located about eight or nine

leagues northeast of the mission of San Francisco de los

Tejas. It was just beyond the Angelina River in the middle

of toe chief village of the Ainay, a mile or two east of

the place where the highway crosses the Angelina, near two

springs, not far from the present Linwood Crossing.l 7 After

two centuries the springs xere found in a neglected and

abandoned condition, but the location and appearance of the

two springs would show that place to be the site of Mission

Concepcion. There was found .a short distance from the twin

sprins two piles of native red rock, having every appear-

ance of being the remains of the rock chimneys of the is-

sion. 1 8  On that site the Centennial Comiss.on has erected

the marker for this mission. Ramon was inressed with the

7E. C. Castaneda, ur Catholic Heritage in Texas,
Vol. II, p. 59.

l 1R. B. Blake, 'Location of the Early Spanish Missions
and Presido in acogdocbes County," Soutrestern Historiel
Qat rl, January (1938), 220.
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fertility of the land around the mission site. There were

cultivated fields of corn, watermelons, beans, melons, to-

bacco, and a painted flower which the Indians liked very

much. On July 7, all preparations were completed; and

Stnon gave official possession of the mission to Father

Espinosa, appointed a governor called an alcalde for the

Indian pueblo, and distributed gifts. Father Espinosa ap-

pointed Father Fray Gabriel Vergara minister of the mission.

The Indians began building a dwelling for the padres; and

Ri-n, with some of the missionaries, left for the village

of their Nacocdoches to build a third mission.

The Iission Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe was founded

for the Nacogdoches and designated as the head of the mis-

sions to be founded by the friars from Zacatecas, It was

located about nine leagues east-southeast of the mission of

La Purisima Concepcidn of the 7ainai on the present site of

the city of Nacogdoches. A temporary log church and dwell-

ings for the padres were quickly built. On July 9, Ramdn

gave fonnal possession of the mission to Father Fray Antonio

hargil de Jes&s, President of the Zacatecas missions. The

next day he left to establish the mission of San Jos8.

Father Margil, with three missionaries from the College of

Zacatecas, Fathers Fray Matias Saenz de San Antonio, Fray

Pedro de Santa Maria y Mendoza, and Fray Auustin Patr6n,

stayed at the mission. It was twenty-three leagues farther

east than the first mission founded by the Spanish in 1690.
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The mission of San Jose was founded for the Nazoni

and Nadaco tribes and was located on an arroyo that flowed

north about fifteen miles northeast of the Hainai village,

where the mission of La Purisima Concepcion was established

on the present Bill's Creek near the north line of Nacog-

doches County. Ramn says he traveled ten leagues west-

northest from the village of the Nacogdoches to the Nazoni

through a country thickly settled by Indians who welcomed
him joyously.19  Father Espinosa arrived before Ramon and

had time to choose the site of the new mission with Father

Fray Benito Sanchez, minister of the mission. The Indians

began immediately to build a church and dwellings for the

padres. After establishing this last of the four missions

agreed upon, ramon returned with much pleasure to his tem-

porary ca mp. His primary purpose was completed, but the

work of converting and civilizing the Indians had just be-

gun.

Ramon learned all he could of French.activities in East

Texas and in 1717 made a visit to Natchitoches. He dis-

covered a well-built house with a stockade. Captain Rarnbn

and the missionaries ordered the French to erect a cross;

and, in the presence of Indians, mass was celebrated. The

Spanish saw that the French had acquired quite a bit of in-

fluence over the Indians; so they decided to stop with the

10E. C. Castaneda, Our Catholic Herita e in Texas,
Vol. II, p. 60.
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Adaes nation. The Adaes welcomed them and invited the mis-

sionaries to establish a mission and to live among them.

{amon was glad to do that and appointed the principal chief

as governor and gave possession of the new mission to Father

Antonio N+argil de Jesus. The mission was named Mission de

San Miguel de Linares, and it was located about eight or

nine leagues from Natchitoches, near the bank of the present-

day Arroyo Hondo about a league from Spanish Lake. 2 0

Then Ram6n ana Father .argil went to the country of the

Ais, which was about half way between the first four mis-

sions established saong the Tejas and the mission of San

tiguel. The Indians were friendly and asked Ram6 n to es-

tablish a mission among the tribe. Ramon gladly agreed;

and with ceremonies similar to those performed in the other

missions, appointed a governor for the Indians and gave

possession of the new establishment to Father Margil. The

mission was named iuestra Senora de los Dolores de los Ais.

Father kargil took charge and selected it as his headquarters

because of its location between Mission Concepcion and Mis-

sion San Miguel. Ram6n had been instructed to establish

four missions; but by establishing the Mission de San Miguel

de Linares and the missionn uestra Sehora de los Dolores,

with the help of Father Margil and the missionaries of the

20
E. C. CastaEeda, Our Catholic H1eritge in Texas,

Vol. II, p. 67.



College of Zacatecas, he had built a total of six missions

mentioned in Morfi's Historia.

The work of the issionaries progressed slowly. Sick-

ness diminished the number of missionaries and soldiers and

the missionaries became discouraged. Ma.y of the military

guard ran away, some were ill, and some died. It seemed

that unless the officials of New Spain took immediate action

to reenforcQ the garrison, to supply the issionAries with

necessities, and to encourage settlers to come to Texas,

the possessions would be lost and the conversion of the

Indians would have to be abandoned as in 1690. The missions

were in trouble almost from the beginning. There were the

fear of the French, bad crops, unruly soldiers, and dis-

satisfaction aong the Indians. The desire of Spain to

fasten her claims on Eastern Texas had resulted by 1719 in

what was a very weak hold on that region. The six strag-

gling missions built by ia6x were scattered from the Neches

Raver almost to the Red River. 2 1

In 1716 Saint-Denis made another visit to Texas and

went to the Rio Grande with a supply of goods for trade.

The second trip was more unfortunate than his first. The

men he trusted acted dishonestly, and he was thrown into

prison. He escaped and returned to Mobile. He married the

E. 3ucley, "tguayo Expedition into Texas and
Louisiana," Texas Historical Association Quarterly, XV
(1911-1912), 1-2.
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niece of Captain Raman and after his escape went to Louisi-

ana, where he was appointed captain of the presidio of

Natchitoches. 2 2

In 1719, war broke out between Spain and France, and

Saint-Denis care into East Texas and expelled the Spanish

missionaries. He made himself master of the entire prov-

ince with the exception of the presidio of San Antonio de

Bexar, where the missionaries took refuge. 23 The French

took possession of the mission of San Miguel de los Adaes.

In the excitement the lay brother escaped and went to

Nuest ra Senora de los Dolores. He told Father Iargil of

the capture of Pensacola, the declaration of war, the in-

tention of the French to drive the Spanish out of Texas, and

that one hundred French soldiers were on the way to East

Texas. Father Margil did not believe this was all true,

but he buried the tools and heavier articles, packed the

ornaments and sacred vessels, and hurried to Concepcibn.

The news of the French had preceded him, and the soldiers

under Captain Domingo Rax6n were ready to retreat. The

missionaries wanted to remain, but the women, soldiers, and

some of the religious decided to go as far as San Francisco

Mission on the Neches. The Indians begged the missionaries

not to leave them at the mercy of the French. Everybody

except Fathers Margil and Espinosa were to retreat to the

22H. S. Thrall, Histry of Texas, p. 19.

2F J. Morfi, History of Texas, Vol. I, p. 191.
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Tejas on the Trinity River. By the middle of July, with no

help from New Spain, the settlers, soldiers, and mission-

aries were forced to retreat to the San Antonio :river. The

patient and hard work of three years had been wiped out; not

a man remained from San Antonio to theRed River to defend

Spain's title to the vast territory. Neither Spain nor the

missionaries had intentions of definitely abandoning East

Texas. The cowardly abandonment of the missions was attrib-

uted to Father Miargil, when the soldiers and settlers were

the ones who should have taken the blame. Later, when

Espinosa went to the MVarquis of Aguayo and reported that he

tried to get the soldiers to stay in the missions, the fugi-

tive soldiers confirmed his report.

There has been some disagreement anon; historians as

to the exact location of the missions established by Domingo

Ramon. R. B. Blake made a search for the site of the mis-

sions with the help of the diary of Ramon and also that of

Espinosa. He began his search with Mission Guadalupe, which

was known to have been in the city limits of Nacogdoches

until 1800. It was soon located by the Spanish records in

Nacogdoches, for several of the grants to town lots refer

to the Ba'ito Creek as "the creek of the mission." The

grant to Juan Jose Sanches for his town lot says his lot is

bounded on the north with lands of the missions.

Definite data concerning the location of Concepcin
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and the presidio is contained in two old Spanish land

grants. In the grant to Barr and Davenport the surveyor

says he went "to the place called the 'Old Presidio' about

eight leagues from the afore-mentioned town of Nacogdoches

on this side of the Angelina River . . . conceding to him

two leagues and a half to the north, two leagues and a half

to the south, two leagues and a half to the west, which

reached to the other side of the Angelina River, where

iarks and corners were placed, and to the east bounding

with land of Don Bernardo Dortoland. '24 An examination of

the rap of Barr and Davenport shows clearly that the start-

ing point of the surveyor of the grant was the site ofthe

old "Presidio Nuestra Senora de los Dolores."

South of the old highway near Nacogdoches and extend-

ing from the Moral to the Alazan were the lands granted to

Mission Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe de Nacogdoches, the

southern border being the Angelina River. Blake found the

two bubbling springs of water referred to in Father Es-

pinosa's diary as being near the Mission La Pursima Con-

cepcidn, near where the John Durst bridge formerly stood.

He was unable to find any reference to Mission San Jos6 de

los Nazones in any of the official records of Nacogdoches

County, but the descriptions given in the Spanish diaries

formed a basis for his search. Father Espinosa says in his

24R. B. Blake, "Locations of the Early Spanish Missions
and Presidio in Nacogdoches County," Southwestern Historical
Quarterly, January (1938), 215.
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diary that Mission San Jose was located seven leagues north-

east from Concepci:n Mission and near a good-sized arroyo

which runs to the north. Examinations of the hills over-

looking Dill Creek to the west of the ford showed on the

crest of one Ill two piles of native red rock about thirty

feet apart. Some of the stones appeared to have been burned

black, showing that they once formed part of a chimney.

This hill is just north of the old Indian road, and on the

south side of the road was a small mound of the sone red

stones which night represent a kitchen cairn.

In 1719 the French took East Texas when the Spanish

abandoned it. They also tried to take Espiritu Santo Bay

but were opposed by the Indians. As soon as the viceroy

learned of French hostilities in East Texas, he began to

plan an expedition to expel the French. He appointed the

marquis of San Miguel de Aguayo to take charge of the prep-

arations and gave him money for expenses. Aguayo organized

a company of eighty-four men and furnished them uniforms,

arms, saddles, horses, and enough supplies for a year. He

was then appointed governor of the provinces of Coahuila

and Texas. He started irmediately for Coahuila, where new

men were enlisted to help him. 2 5 He authorized the founding

of the fission San Jose y San Miguel de Aguayo near the

presidio of Bexar. On April 1, 1720, the five hundred

25F. J. orfi, History of Texas, Vol. I, p. 193.
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recruits started on their march to East Texas. On Feb-

ruary 2, 1721, he received a message from the captain of

San Antonio saying word had reached him through some In-

di ansthat Saint-Denis was within thirty leagues of the

presido. Indian scouts could find no trace of the French

closer than the Brazos River. the Marcuis arrived at San

Antonio and found no news of Captain Ramn, but on April 18

his messengers arrived to talk with Aguayo. They told him

that 'ai6 n had taken possession of Espiritu Santo Bay.

Aguayo resumed his march and reached the Texas Indians

on July 28, 1721. Father Espinosa went ahead and arranged

for te reception of Aguayo by the Indians at the site of

the first mission. A great number of Indians came to greet

the Spaniards and to bring gifts to them. Some of the

Neches Indians also came to welcome Aguayo and promised to

help him build a settlement. A Frenchan came that after-

noon from Saint-Denis saying he was at the site of Concep-

cion mission and wanted to talk with Aguayo.

On the morning of August 1, the Marquis called his cap-

tains and officers together, and they asked Saint-Denis to

tell why he came to them. He told them that he was the com-

mader at the post of Natchitoches and that he had heard

that a truce had been negotiated between France and Spain.

He wanted to know if Aguayo would observe peace; if so, the

French would also observe the truce. Aguayo told Saint-Denis

that he had been ordered by the viceroy to observe the truce
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if Saint-Denis and his men would leave the entire province

of Texas and not try to stop the Spanish from again occupy-

ing that region. Saint-Denis agreed and slowly returned to

iatchrtoches.

Aguayo had driven out the French; now he was to re-

establish the missions that had been abandoned. It was for

that purpose that he had carried along supplies and mission-

aries. He sent a group of soldiers with Father Jos6 uerra

on August 2, 1721, to go to the old site of Jission San

Francisco de los Tejas to rebuild the church and the home

of the priests. They found the abandoned mission located

in the village of the Neche tribe, which has been identified

as being on Bowles Creek not far from the present crossing

of that streak by the old San Antonio Road. On August 5,

the Spanish and the Indians celebrated the reestablishing

of the mission, and Father Fray Joseph Guerra was presented

as resident missionary.

On the same day that Aguayo sent Father Guerra with

soldiers to San Francisco, he also sent Fathers Gabriel

Vergara and Benito $anchez with some men to Mission Con-

cepcibn to make preparations for its restoration. As soon

as the ceremonies at the Iission San Francisco had been

finished, he went to mission La Purilima Concepci6n. This

mission was the only one that had not been completely de-

stroyed, and by August 7 it was restored. The men went to

the mission site and met many Aynay Indians. A very in-



29

teresting ceremony was performed, and the missionaries

were happy to see the reestablishment of the mission and

of the Catholic faith. 2 6  Father Fray Gabriel Vergara was

appointed resident missionary.

After the rebuilding of the Mission Concepcion, a group

of soldiers went with Father Fray Benita Sanchez to mission

San Jose de los Nazones to rebuild the old church and dwell-

ing house of the missionaries. On August 12, Aguayo heard

that everything was ready; and on August 13, 1721, the

fortl reestablishment of ivMission San Jose de los Nazones

took place. Father Fray Benito Sanchez, who had formerly

been there, was agrin given charge of the mission.

Father Antonio Margil de Jests, two missionaries, and

some soldiers went to rebuild the mission of Nuestra Senora

de Guadalupe of the Nacotdoches and was ready for the cel-

ebration on August 18. The Father was happy over celebrat-

ing High Mass at the site of the mission he had founded

five years before and had abandoned. The first of the

Zacatecan missions was officially restored by Aguayo.

From Guadalupe Aguayo went to Mission Dolores. Father

Fray Antonio Margil de Jesus went ahead to begin the work of

restoring the mission. The mission had been completely de-

stroyed; so the Father chose a new sit e. He selected a

place beside a stream near a spring on a high slope of clear

C. E. Castaheda, Our Catholic Iericae in Texas,
Vol. II, pp. 152-153.
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ground. The stream described in Pena's Diary has been

identiwled as Aysh Bayou. The site of the mission is

about half a mile south of the present site of San Augus-

tine. On August 23, High Mass was celebrated. and possession

was given to hReverend Father Antonio hargil de Jesus.

Six days later the expedition reached the place of the

Mission of San Miguel de los Adaes. Nearly a month was

spent in restoring the mission; and on September 29, which

was t:e Feast of the Archangel St. ichael, the ref ounding

was celebrated.

,Te Marquis de Aguayo built the fort of Adaes while he

was in East Texas rebuilding the missions. He chose a place

on the Natchitoches road seven leagues from Natchitoches.

The rest of the country was rough and shaded by woods, but

the site selected had good valleys in which to erect the

mission near the fort. There was plenty of land for the

Spanish and Indians to make their crops, and a spring on

the hIllside furnished water. On top of the hill Aguayo

laid out and built the fortification. 2 7  He built it in the

form of a hexagon with each side about fifty feet long.

The greatest task was to open the space for the foundation,

which had to be done with very crude tools, and to clear

the site and its surroundings of very heavy timber. In

October, 17 1, the fort and church were dedicated. The

27v2. E. Bolton and . C. Barker, With the Makers of
Texas, p. 59.
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Aguayo expedition further established the claim of Spain

over Texas, a claim undisputed for nearly a century. For

many years the people lived contented and undisturbed.

There were four lines of approach to Spanish
Texas, through the development of which a knowledge
of the region was gradually unfolded: (1) from the
east and south, by way of the Gulf of Mexico; (2)
from the east by way of the vast region known in
early days as La Florida; (3) from the west and
southwest, by way of New Mexico and Nueva Vizcaya;
and (4) from the south, through the expansion of
Nuevo Leon and Coahuila. 2 8

In 1762 France was at war with England and ceded

Louisiana to Spain. With a Spanish governor at New Or-

leans, there was no further need for a military guard on

the frontier. A Spanish investigator, Marquis de Rubi,

recommended the complete abandonment of East Texas forts and

missions. So the Spanish decided to give back to the In-

dians the land of Texas northeast of San Antonio de Bexar.

The failure of the Spanish to abandon East Texas completely

was because of the fact that some of the Spanish settlers

wanted to keep their homes; but most of them left. 2 9

The most prominent citizen of the East Texas region

about 1773 was Antonio Gil Ybarbo. He was a native of

Adaes and had his headquarters there; but he lived part of

28 E. C. Bolton, "Spanish Occupation of Texas," Texas
Historical Association Quarterly, XVI (1013), 2.

29H. E. Bolton, "Spanish Abandonment and Re-Occupation
of East Texas," Texas Historical Association uarterl, IX
(1906), 67-68.
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the time on a large ranch called Labinillo, which was be-

tween the mission of Los Ais and the Sabine River. Besides

being a rancher, Ybarbo was a trader.30

In 1773, when the news that they must leave reached the

settlers, the people were bewildered. Most of them loved

their homes, and some had been born at Adaes and had lived

all their lives there. Most of the people were soon ready

to leave, but reports show that thirty-five persons went

into the woods to remain. The settlers had made only a few

im rovements on their farms, but they had to be abandoned.

Their stock were scattered; and the corn, which was almost

ready to be harvested, had to be left. The articles such

as guns and cannons that could not be carried were buried

within the presidio.

When the travelers reached Ybarbo'Is ranch, twenty-four

persons remained behind. Some were sick and some stayed to

take care of the sick ones. Some were Ybarbo t s relatives,

and Ybarbo received permission from the governor to let

them stay at his home. Perhaps Ybarbo did not intend to

abandon his Lome comletely. When the others arrived at

the Uacogdoches mission, two families of nine persons

stopped there.

As soon as the Spanish were gone from Adaes, the In-

dians raided the place, scattering things and digging up

30 H. E. Bolton, Texas in the Middle Eighteenth Cen-
tur , p. 389.



what the people had buried. Some of the people who had

stopped at Labanillo probably never left, even though

Ybarbo did send away some of them. It seems probable then

that East Texas was never completely abandoned as had been

ordered by the Spanish government.

The exiles went to exar; and soon after they arrived

t here, they sent a petition to the governor asking for per-

mission to build a new pueblo at the old mission of IT uestra

5eRora de los Dolores de los A:s. Ybarbo and Gil Flores.

were chosen to carry the petition to Mexico City. The re-

quest was granted, but the settlers were told to select a

site at least one hundred leagues from Natchitoches. In

1774 a place was chosen on their right bank of the Trinity

Silver, at Paso Toahs, probably at the crossing of the San

Antonio road and the La Bahia road. The settlers decided

to name the settlement Nuestra Selora del Pilar de Bucareli.

Gil Ybarbo became mayor and Gil Flores became lieutenant.

One day in May, 1778, about thirty warriors of the

Comanche tribe appeared, but Yoarbo and his men killed

three of them and drove away the others. The settlers be-

came frightened and asked for protection from the Indians

or for permission to move to the Texas villages. In Jan-

uary most of the settlers began to leave, and soon after-

wards a flood destroyed many of the homes: so Ybarbo and

the set t lers that Were left started for the Texas villages.

Ybarbo and the settlers traveled until they could see



the site of the Texas Indians, three leagues beyond the

old mission of Nacogdoches. Unless some of the families

who left Bucareli in January reached Nacogdoches ahead of

Ybarbo, and there seems to be no record of the fact, Ybarbo

began the modern city of Nacogdoches. The nearest available

date for this beginning was April 30, 1779.31

The question of who built the historic landmark known

as the "Old Stone IFort" at Nacogdoches is not important, but

it is interesting. According to tradition, the building was

erec ted by Gil Ybarbo when he came with the settlers to the

site of the old mission Iacojdoches. Some think the fort

was already there and was built by De Soto's men. This is

probably false, for there is strong evidence that the build-

ing was not there when Ybarbo arrived. One of the early

priests referred in his diary to an old adobe building; and

as the Fort was built of -good-sized stones, a Mexican would

not have been likely to have called it adobe. The only

buildings mentioned by Yharbo as being there when he ar-

rived were the ones mentioned by the priest.32

Nacogdoches was settled without authority, secured

recognition from the government, and became important. With

the occupation of Nacogdoches began a new period in the

H. E. Bolton, Texas in the Middle Eghteenth Cen-
tug, *~p.439.

h. . :Bolton, "The Old Stone Fort at Nacogdoches,"
Texas Historical Association Quarterly, IX (1906), 283-285.
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history of the Texas-Louisiana frontier, and it became the

chief center of developments. cbarbo asked for a trading

house, which was established, and Indian trade was reor-

ganized. Nacogdoches became the most important Indian

agency in the province, and Ybarbo became influential

among the Indians.

There is no census of Texas in 1801 to see about the

number of immigrants, but a list of foreigners in the ju-

risdiction of Nacogdoches in 1804 furnished information. In

that report the name, nationality, and ter of residence of

each person was given. It contained the names of sixty-

eight foreigners, of whom fifty had been there more than

three years. Of the fifty, thirteen were Americans.33

The people began establishing their new homes and had

very little trouble with each other, probably because of

Ybarbo's authority. When the government recognized Nacog-

doches, Ybarbo was appointed Captain of Militia and Lieu-

tenant-Governor of the pueblo of Nacogdoches, combining all

local civil and military authority in him.5 4  He held that

position for about twenty years, and the community grew in

number and prospered.

33L'. A. Hatcher, The OnenI of Texas to Foreign Set-
tlement, p. 55. M. A.Hatcher, Conditions in Texas Af-
fecting the Colonization Problem," Southwestern Historical
uarterly, XXV (1922), 94-95.

3 4 G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 57.
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As a whole, the Spanish never particularly cared to

settle Texas for themselves. The missionaries were com-

pletely happy in building the missions and teaching the

Indians, but Lhe people who went as settlers were not com-

pletely satisfied. The Spaniards did not want profit by

labor in the New orld. They were not natural colonizers

as were t he English; they were conquerors, rulers, and

exploiters. They could fight and endure hardships if the

regard was great, but not any cared to engage in agri-

culture. Texas was not profitable but rather expensive to

Spai. 3 5  So the Spanish abandoned East Texas and left the

way open for the coming of the Anglo-Americans who changed

the province of Texas into the great state of today.

.olyneaux, Tih Roma'tic Story of Texas, p. 25.



CHAPTERL II

THE ANGLO-A-MERICAN IN EAST TEXAS--N ACOGDOCHES

The old Spanish colonists, English and Irish adven-

turers gave way to new arrivals. The Cherokee Indians had

been fighting the Americans for many years in the Southern

United States. These Indians were partly civilized, and

they decided to build new homes. Rather than to make peace

and to acknowledge the sovereignty of the white s, they

moved west of the Mississippi into East Texas. These Cher-

okees who came to settle Texas were not savage but were

rather peaceful, and made their living by farming and hunt-

ing. They worked the fields and raised cattle and horses

on their farms. Many of them understood the English lan-

guage.1  The Indians knew they must have a legal title to

the land; so they aoplied to the Spanish government for

land agents. 2 The government kept them waiting while the

white settlers came in.

in the year 1811 Bernardo Gutierrez, a friend of I-ather

Hidalgo of Mexico, care to the frontier town of Natchitoches

in Louisiana. He became acquainted with Augustus W. Magee,

an American who was considering; plans for the invasion of

Texas. The two men f onred the "Republican Army of the North, "

E. . Winkler, "The Cherokee Indians in East Texas, "
Texas Historical Association Quarterly, VII (1904), 95-97.

9 G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 76.
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and Gutierrez crossed the Sabine into Texas in June, 1812.

M Magee stayed in Louisiana to gather soldiers and supplies.

The force under Guti rrez captured Nacogdoches and occupied

Spanish Bluff on the Trinity River. Then Magee arrived,

the army was organized with Magee as colonel and commander-

in-chief, uti rrez as nominal general, and a man named

Kemper as major. The army moved on to Goliad and Magee died.

In 1813 they took San Antonio; and when a number of prisoners

werte murdered, some of the Americans withdrew from the army.

The army was then defeated by the Mexican forces led by

General Arredondo at Medina River. The men had practically

made Texas independent of Spanish rule, and Spanish Bluff

was destroyed with Nacogdoches almost depopulated.

In 1819 the United States and Spain made a treaty in

which the boundary line of Texas was to begin at the Gulf of

exico at the mouth of the Sabine River, to continue north

along the west bank of the Sabine to the 3 2 nd degree of lat-

itude, then north to the Red River.

The people of western United States did not like to

leave Texas to Spain; so a group at Natchez asked Dr. James

Long to command an expedition to recover Texas from the

banish. In June, 1819, Dr. Long started to Texas with

seventy-five men, and others joined him from crossroads,

trading0 posts, and frontier forts. He had over three hundred

men when he reached Nacogdoches and took the post easily

from the Spanish. Long declared Texas to be an independent
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republic and organized a provisional government. The gov-

ernment was to be carried on by an elected council, and the

council was to disposoe of public land. The object of the

land system was to attract immigrants. Long went to Gal-

veston Island to try to make an allance with Jean Lafitte;

andi when he returned to Nacogdoches, he found that a Spanish

army had broken up the post and killed or scattered his men.

Only a remnant of American squatters now lived around the

ruins of Nacogdoches.

The colonization of Texas began at an auspicious time.

The American people were hunting new and cheaper lands; and

at the time Moses Austin came to Texas, the stream of popu-

lation flowing westward had reached the border of the prov-

ince. Many families took what they could carry and started

to Texas with no further information of the province than

what they read of Austin's account on his return from Tex-

as.3 hen Austin came to Texas and received normission to

brWng colonists, he opened the way for American settlers

into Texas. Moses Austin was a man of strong character and

untiring energy who wanted to secure a tract of land in Tex-

as for colonization. He went to San Antonio, where governor

Martinez approved his petition for land and helped him to

secure tie apprval of the higher autiorities. Ho returned

to the United States and died before he could carry out his

E. C. Barker, "Notes on the Colonization of Texas,"
Texas Historical Association uarterlr, XII (1924), 108.
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plans. Stephen F. Austin, son of Moses Austin, undertook

the task left him by his father and began the actual col-

onization of Texas by the Anglo-Americans.

The coming of the white settlers to Texas in 1823 and

1824 was a part of the slow, leterrined progress of the

American nation across the land it wanted to occupy. The

immigrants came to Texas to stay, to live on the land and to

make their homes. The earlier people who came were mainly

fortune seekers; but now this was a part of the American

migration of home seekers going from the East to the est. 4

The exican government was liberal to these first colonists,

chiefly because of the character of Stephen F. Austin, who

has been called "The Father of Texas." The question of

roads helped the Americans in their decision to settle in

East Texas, because the one followed by Saint-Denis was the

only one that had been used as an entrance. Also in the

west were hostile Indians who did not want the white men,

while those in the east were friendly Indians. The families

who first made their homes in Texas nearly all settled in

the redland belt on either side 'of the main road.

The established nt of on independent government in Mex-

ico was the beginning of a new era in the history of Texas.

It was a time in which the suspicion and hostility of Spain

toward all foreigners, especially citizens of the United

States, was to be superseded by an invitation to the world

G. L. Rocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 77.
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to build homes within Mexican Territory. When the Mexi-

cans took Texas from the Spanish, the attitude toward for-

eigners was very different. Mexico invited and called set-

tlers, and many answered the call, some as emresarios and

some as colonists. 5 The Anglo-American migration began in

1821, and before that time little had been done toward es-

tablishing European civilization north of the Rio Grande

River. It was the work of the Anglo-Americans to establish

civilization in Texas. With the exception of government

and religion, the colonists lived about the same as they

did in the United States. Religion did a little toward

hindering immigration, because all settlers were supposed

to have accepted the Catholic faith. Many would have been

glad to pay for the upkeep of the Catholic Church if they

could have obtained the right of following the religion in

which they believed. 6 weal information concerning the col-

onists is scarce, for the pioneers were too busy doing things

to ake a record of their daily lives. Perhaps few of these

people ever thought that an account of their lives would be

of interest to later generations, for many of these early

settlers grew up on the frontier of the United States.

The territory for Anglo-American settlement extended

. V. Henderson, "Minor Epresario Contracts for the
Colonization of Texas,?" Southwestern Historical Quarterly,
XXX1 (1928), 295.

6
WS. Red, The Texas Colonists and Relig:ion, p. 25.
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roughly from the present site of Beaumont northward to

Nacogdocies, on the east, to a line about halfway between

the San Antonio and Guadalupe Rivers on the west. On the

north the grants ran from San Antonio to Nacogdoches, and

the colonists could not settle within twenty-five miles of

the coast. This territory was one of the richest agricul-

tural lands of Texas; and Uith the soil, climate, and vege-

tation similar to that of the United States formerly occu-

pied by the colonists, they were able to begin life much as

they had always lived.

oses Austin received his land grant from the Spanish

government. When Stephen F. Austin arrived in Texas with

a group of colonists, he found that Mexico had won freedom

from Spain and controlled Texas. Mexico wanted settlers

even more than had Sain; therefore the new government con-

fi med the grant and gave many grants of land to the Ameri-

cans. Since most of them came from slave-holding states,

slaves had to be considered by the colonIzation laws. The

laws of the Indies recognized slavery, and no objection was

made to it when Moses Austin received his grant. According

to the grant of land given to Stephen F. Austin, fifty acres

of land were allowed for each slave, and the amount was

later increased to oigbty acres. 7 When Mexico passed the

E. C. Barker, "The Influence of Slavery in the Col-
onization of Texas, "outhestern Historical Quarterly,
XXVlII (1925), 3-4.



Imperial Colonization law, it made provisions for slavery.

After farms were established, the work on the farm was done

by the farmerrand his slaves, if he had any. The Texans

were slave holders but not on a large scale. Large plan-

tations with hundred of slaves did not gain a foothold in

Texas as they did in the Old South. One negro family was

generally all that a farmer owned, and the farmer worked by

the side of his slave. Colonel Jared E. Groce had about a

hundred slaves, the largest number owned by one man in Tex-

as before the Revolution. It was estimated in 1836 that

there were five thousand negroes in Texas. 8

In January, 1823, the hexican government passed a gen-

eral Imperial Colonization law. The government of Mexico

would protect the liberty, property, and civil rights of

all foreigners who professed the Roman Catholic religion.

The empresarios were to have contracts for two hundred fa -

ilies. The measurement of land was to be according to the

vara, the league, the square, and the hacienda. The vara

was three geometrical feet, and a line of five thousand

varas was a league. The square was to have each side equal

to a league, and the length of five sides would be one haci-

enda. There wvs to be given not less than one labor to the

colonist kho farmed and not less than one sitio for those

A. Curlee, "The History of a Texas Slave Plantation,"
Southwestern Historical quarter, XXVI (1923), 88.



44

who raised stock. When a sufficient number of families

settled t a group, their local government would be regu-

lated,

Native Mexicans were to have a preference in the dis-

tribut ion of land. To each empresario who introduced and

established families there was to be granted land at the

rate of three haciendas and two labors for each hundred

families brought by him. He would lose the property unless

it was settled and cultivated within twelve years. The

prem.ia coIuld not be more than nine haciendas and six labors.

During the first six years the colonists were not to pay

taxes and duties, and during the next six years they were to

pay half tithes and half of the contributions that were paid

by the other citizens of the empire. After that the colo-

nists would be placed on the same footing with other citi-

zens. From the time this law was published, there could be

no sale or purchase of slaves which might be brought into

the empire. The children born of slaves in the empire were

free when they beccae fourteen years of age. 9

In August, 1824, the Mexican government passed the

national Colonization law;10 The Congress decreed that:

Art. 1. The Mexican nation offers to for-
eigners, who come to establish themselves within
its territory, security for their persons and prop-
erty, provided, they subject themselves to the laws
of the country.

9H. P. N. Ghmmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, pp. 27-30.

10E. C. Barker, Readin;s in Texas History, pp. 73-74.
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Art. 2. This law comprehends those lands of
the nation, not the property of individuals, cor-
porations, or towns which can be colonized.

Art. 3. For this purpose the legislatures of
all the states will, as soon as possible, form col-
onisation laws, or regulations for their respective
states, conforming themselves in all things to the
constitutional act, general constitution, and the
regulations established in this law.

Art. 4. There cannot be colonised any lands
comprehended to within twenty leagues of the limits
of any foreign nation, nor within ten leagues of
the coasts, without the previous approbation of the
general supreme executive government.

Art. 5. If for the defence and security ofthe nation, the federal government should deem it
necessary to use any portion of these lands, for
the construction of warehouses, arsenals, or other
public edifices, they can do so, with the approba-
tion of the general congress, or in its recess the
council of government.

Art. 6. Until after four years from the pub-
lication of this law, there shall not be imposed
any tax whatever, on the entrance of foreigners,
who come to establish themselves for the first time
in the nation.

Art. 7. Until after the year 1840, the gener-
al congress shall not prohibit the entrance of any
foreigner, as a colonist, unless imperious circum-
stances should require it, with respect to the in-
dividuals of a particular nation.

Art. 8. The government, without prejudicing
the objects of this law, shall take such precau-
tionary measures as it may deem expedient, for the
security of the confederation, as respects the for-
eigners who come to colonise.

Art. 9. A preference shall be given in the
distribution of lands, to Mexican citizens, and no
other distinction shall be made in regard to them
except that which is founded on individual merit,
or services rendered the country, or under equal
circumstances, a residence in the place where the
lands to be distributed are situated.

Art. 10. The military who in virtue of the,
offer made on the 2 7 th of .arch, 1821, have a right
to lands, shall be attended to by the states, in
conformity with the diplomas which are issued to
that effect, by the supreme executive power.

Art. 11. If in virtue of the decree alluded
to, in the last article, and taking into view the
probabilities of life, the supreme executive power
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should deem it expedient to alienate any portion of
land in favor of any officer, whether civil or mil-
itary of the federation, it can do so from the va-
cant lands of the territories.

Art. 12. It shall not be permitted to unite in
the same hands with the right of property, more than
one league square of land, suitable for irrigation,
four square leagues in supezficies, of arable land
without the facilities of irrigation, and six square
leagues in superficies of grazing land.

Art. 13. The new colonists shall not transfer
their property in mortmain (manus muertos).

Art. 14. This law guarantees the contracts
which the empresarios make with the families which
they bring at their own expense, provided they are
not contrary to the laws.

Art. 15. No person who by virtue of this law,
acquires a title to lands, shall hold then if he is
doriciliated out of the limits of the republic.

Art. 16. The government in conformity with
the provisions established in this law will proceed
to colonise the territories of the republic. 1

In this law of 1824, foreigners were invited to settle free-

ly and live ten years exempt from taxation if they would

take the oath of allegiance fixed by the eMexican government.12

In 1825 the State Legislature of Texas and Coahuila

passed a colonization law conforming to the federal act.1 5

The terms by which settlers could secure land were almost

the same as under the Irmerial Colonization act. The new

settlers had to prove by certificate from the authorities

of the place from where they ccne that they w ere Christians.

No settlements were to be made within twenty leagues of the

lH. P. i. Gamel, Ls of Texas, Vol. 1, pp. 38-40.
It. C. Barker, "Land Speculation as a Cause of the

Texas Revolution, " Texas Historical Association surterly,
X (1907), 76.

13E. C. Barker, Readings in Texas History, pp. 75-78.
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boundaries of the United States and ten leagues along the

coast of the Gulf of Mexico, except with permission of the

Mexican government. The law gave to each empresario, :cr

each one hundred families he brought to Texas, five lots of

grazing land and five subdivisions of which at least one-

half was to be arable land, not requiring irrigation. The

empresario could receive the premium for no more than eight

hundred families. The contract would have to be completed

in six years. The foreigners who conformed to the law, ob-

tained lands, and established themselves in settlements were

considered naturalized in the country. During the first

ten years they were to be free from every tax except in the

event of an invasion by the enemy. Regarding slavery, the

law was to be the same as the one already in use.

In 1829, Guerrero, Dictator of Mexico, abolished slav-

ery in all of Texas, but Austin persuaded Mexico to exempt

Texas from the effects of the law. In 1830 another law was

passed by the Mexican government concerning the colonization

of Texas and immigration from the United States. It for-

bade further colonization in border states of Yvexico by im-

-igrants from adjoining nations. The law was a general one

but was actually aimed at the United States. Anyone wishing

to enter along the northern frontier had to have a passport

from a Mexican consular agent. All unfilled impresario con-

tracts contrary to the law were to be suspended. Mexican

convicts were to be shipped to Texas to be settled among
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the Anglo-Americans. The colonists regarded this as an

effort by Mexico to make Texas into a penal settlement for

Mexican criminals. Kinsmen and friends of the settlers,

who were still in the United States and who wished to join

the colonists in Texas, were unable to do so according to

the law of April, 1M3O.

Other grants of land were given to ermpresarios who

brouh colonfists to Texas.f With the exception of Hayden

Edwards, there were no empresarios in East Texas for several

years after the beginning of colonization. The settler

ceme to East Texas because he wished to come, and many of

theL ce at their own expense. In the territory where

there were no empresarios, there were no agents to give

title or deed of the grant to the colonist; so he chose what

land ie wanted, that no one else had taken, built his home,

and started cultivating his fields. There :rere few records

kept, a'nd it is difficult to learn much about many of the

early set t lers in East Texas.

The Mexican government made contracts with erpresarios

to y;ive them land, and the> would then bring settlers to Tex-

as. The provisions od these cantracus followed practically

the same formi. At the beginning of the contract, the gov-

ernment stated that it admitted the petitioner's proposal

to colonize vacant lands as long as he conformed to the

colonization laws. The provisions were then stated, the

usual ones being as follows:
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1. A statement of the boundaries of the pro-
posed colony.

2. That the empresario should respect the pos-
session of lands which were already occupied under
legal title.

3. That the empresario should introduce the re-
quired number of families within six years or for-
feit all rights and privileges granted to him by
the law of March 24, 1825.

4. That the families were to be of the Catho-
lic religion and of good moral character.

5. That the introduction of criminals was not
allowed. If any should appear, they were to be
ejected.

6. That the empresario should organize a na-
tional militia force and conand it unless other-
wise ordered.

7. That when the empresario had introduced one
hundred families, he should notify the government
in order that a commissioner might be sent to give
the colonists possession of the land.

8. That all official communications with the
government and all public acts and documents were
to be written in Spanish.

9. Contracts made of April 6, 1830, contained
the restriction that no iiigrants from adjoining
nations were to be allowed to settle.1 4

Among the empresarios who came to Texas was Hayden

Edwards. He was an intelligent gentleman who failed to un-

derstand the colonists and to adapt himself to their ways.

He was a Kentuckian descended from an old southern family

of worth and honor. In 1822 he went to Mexico to secure a

contract to colonize a part of Texas; and on the fifteenth

of April, 1825, he was awarded a contract to settle eight

hundred families in a territory including Nacogdoches, the

Ayish Bayou, and extending north over the Indian country.

14. V. Henderson "Minor Empresario Contracts for the
Colonization of Texas, Southwestern Historical Quarterly,
XXXI (1928), 301.
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His grant included territory between the Navasota and Sabine

Rivers.15 Edwards was to conform to the federal and state

laws, to respect all grants legally made before his coming,

to be chief of the militia within his grant, and to conform

to all requirements of the colonization laws.

Edwards found the territory already occupied by three

classes of people: the Mexican settlers, the Cherokee In-

diana, and the American settlers. The Mexicans had come in

with Gil Ybarbo, the Indians from the southern United States,

and the Americans from the Neutral Ground and the United

tates.16 When the Mexicans came in with Gil Ybarbo, he

gave them places to build their homes; and though they had

no land title, they considered the land theirs because he

had given it to them. When the Indians cae they asked for

land titles, but the government refused. Not many of the

white settlers, before the coming of Hayden Edwards, had

land titles. Edwards made his headquarters at Nacogdoches

and issued a notice for all people who claimed land in his

giant to present proof of their claims so that they might be

lawfully confirmed. Those who could not prove title would

have their land sold; and since most of the people had no

titles, trouble arose. The Mexicans, especially, were of-

fended, and the authorities thought Edwards had no right to

5H. S. Thrall, History of Texas, p. 45.

16The Neutral Ground was the country between the Arroyo
Hondo and the Sabine River over which neither Americans nor
Spaniards could exercise political jurisdiction.
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sell property. There was a feeling of consternation and

resentment throughout the grant.

Edwardst good fortune in obtaining such a large grant

of land excited the jealousy and ill-will of the Mexican

group which had been living in this section for many years.

Edwards ordered the election of military officers and ad-

vised the election of an alcalde. The American population

wanted to elect the alcalde by the body of the citizens,

and did so, choosing a Mr. Chaplin, a son-in-law of the em-

presario. He willingly accepted the position and began his

work as an alcalde. The opposition, mostly Mexicans, wanted

SrIuel Norris to be the alcalde because he was understood

to be entirely for the Mexicans. They applied to the po-

litical chief at San Antonio, who commissioned Norris to be

the alcalde. Chaplin had been given all the official papers

of the colony and refused to give them to Norris. The new

alcalde and about fifty armed m.en, mostly Mexicans, marched

to Edwards' home and demanded the papers. Norris showed his

commission, and Chaplin surrendered the official papers. 1 7

From that time little quiet was enjoyed in the colony of

Nacogdoches.

This section of East Texas had been divided for years

into districts, and each had an alcalde. Norris ordered

all abolished except his own district, and he was to have

power over all the East Texas district. The people were

17H. S. Foote, Texas and the Texans, Vol. 1, pp. 228-229.



indignant and did not like for Norris to have so much au-

thority. There were many disturbances and much unrest in

the colony. Normis decided all decisions, of cases brought

to him, in favor of the Mexicans; and the Governor of Texas

and Coahuila ordered Edwards' contract to be annulled and

for him to be expelled from the territory of Texas.

Edwards had spent some $50,000 in coming to Texas, and

many of the American settlers at Nacogdoches had gone to

great expense. They saw ruin for themselves and for Ed-

wards; so he decided it was time to throw off Mexican rule

and fight for.what he considered justice. He asked the

other colonies to join him but they refused. The Cherokee

Indians, who hated Mexican rule, offered to help him. Ed-

wards and his friends assumed the name of Fredonians and

declared that "The Republic of Fredonia" was independent of

Mexico. A group of men met in Nacogdoches and wrote a Fre-

donian Declaration of Independence. They stated that the

Lexcan government had forced them either to submit their

freedom to the yoke of an imbecile, faithless, and despotic

governmen tt or to take up arms in defense of their rights

and claim independence.18 Edwards took charge of the town

of Nacogdoches. Colonel Beene, an officer employed by the

Mexican government, with about thirty-five soldiers retreated

to the Trinity River to await the arrival of more Mexican

h. P. N. Gam-el, Laws of Texas, Vol. 1, p. 109.



soldiers. Several skirmishes occurred between the Fre-

donians and the Mexicans under Norris in Nacogdoches.

The other colonies refused to help the Fredonians,

and the Indians deserted when the Mexican government of-

fered to give them land. The Fredonians remained in Nacog-

doce s for about six months, and in January, 1827, left the

town and started for the Sabine River. The Mexicans under

Colonel Ahumada entered Nacogdoches and took possession of

the whole country. Edwards went to the United States, and

his grant was divided between David G. Burnet, Lorenzo de

Zavala, and Joseph Vehlein. The Fredonian revolt and the

annulment of Edwards' contract hindered the settlement

about Nacogdoches by people from the United States. There

was not a great increase of population before the fall of

1835.

Besides helping to check migration, the rise and

fall of Fredonia was rather im iportant. 1 9 It was the first

skirmish in the trouble which ended at San Jacinto and which

was renewed in 1848 in the war between the United States and

Mexico. The Mexicans began to distrust the Anglo-Americans

and. felt that they were waiting for an opportunity to rebel

and take possession of Texas. The Americans knew the Mexi-

cans were not ready to rule themselves and certainly not to

rule others. They thought there was no hope for justice in

19
1C. <t. Wharton, Texas Under Six lags, Vol. I,

pp. 176-177.
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a trial between Mexicans and Americans with a vexican judge.

Mexico also became suspicious of the United States. Lmor

passed. through Mexico that the rebellion was at the insti-

gation of the United States government in order to secure

the Rio Grande River as a boundary. exico was so stirred

that preparations were made to invade Texas to put down the

Fredonian Revolt and to make war on the United States. The

American government explained that it had nothing to do

with the trouble; and when news of the fall of the Fredonians

reached Mexico, it turned attention to an internal revolu-

tion.

Burnet's grant and Vehlein's first grant covered a

large part of the territory previously granted to Hayden

Edwards. In December, 1826, David Burnet received a grant

to settle three hundred families within the following bound-

aries:

Beginning at the Town of Nacogdoches: Thence
on a North course, the distance of fifteen leagues,
parallel with the.river Sabine, which River, is the
boundary or dividing line with the United States of
the North, here a land mark shall be made, and thence
a line run West to Navasota Creek: Thence down said
Creek, with its rmeanderings by its left bank to the
place where it is crossed by the road leading from
Bexar to Nacogdoches: Thence with said road, to fork
of the Bull's hill road ("Loma de Toro") before ar-
riving at the Military Post on the Trinity, with
said road to its junction with the old road, and
with said old road to the Town of Nacogdoches, and
place of beginning. Leaving on the right all the
land granted yesterday to citizen John Lucius Wood-



bury Attorney for Vehlein and company. 2 0

Joseph Vehlein, a German merchant, made his first con-

tract with the government for three hundred families in De-

cember, 1826. The boundaries were:

Beginning at the Town of Nacogdoches: Thence
South, leaving free twenty boundary border leagues,
parallel with the Sabine River to the intersectionof the boundary line of the same, with that of the
Ten coast border leagues, on the Gulf of Mexico.Thence west to the river San Jacinto: Thence up the
said river with its left bank, to its source, and
thence on a straight line North to the San Antonio
road leading from Bexar to Nacogdoches: Thence with
said road to the town aforesaid, and previous toarriving at the giver Trinity the line shall follow
the road called Bull's hill road (Loma del Toro)
crossing that river above the Military Post, and
continuing on said road, until it unites with the
first road mentioned and thence with it to the Town
of Nacogdoches and place of beginning. 2 1

A third empresario, Lorenzo de Zavala, contracted in

March, 1829, to bring five hundred families. The territory

included the boundary reserve between Vehleints grants and

the Sabine River. The Gulf was the southern boundary; a

line run from Nacogdoches following the main road leading

to Natchitoches by way of "Las Borregas" and the ferry to

the right bank, of the Sabine River was the northern boundary.

When these emrresarios received their grants they probably

intended to fulfill them; but Vehlein did not have enough

20M. V. Henderson, "'Minor npresario Contracts for the
Colonization of Texas," Southwestern Historical uarterlT
XXX (1928), p. 303.

M. V. Hendersong " inor inpresario Contracts for the
Colonization of Texas, ' South estern Historical Quarterly
XXXI (1928), p. 303.
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money to colonize; so he had to combine his grant with

others. This is probably true of de Zavala, for he sold

his contract soon after he secured it.

Burnet made several unsuccessful attempts to settle

colonists on his grant. On October 16, 1830, the three em-

presarios transferred their contracts to the Galveston Bay

and Texas Land Company. The company then undertook to col-

onize on the largest scale of any of the colonization enter-

prises. The company highly advertised Texas, telling of the

advantages but leaving out the difficulties the colonists

would meet.

In December, 1830, a group of settlers arrived in Texas

for the Land Company. Each colonist was to receive one hun-

dred and seventy-seven acres of land, and in return for one

year's food supply and tools furnished by the company the

colonist worked for it two days of each week. The company

also m ade contracts with individuals and with other companies

to settle large tracts of land in its territory.

The Law of April 6, 1830, had forbidden citizens of

countries adjacent to exico to settle as colonists. The

law also said that no changes would be Lade with respect to

colonies already established but all others were suspended.

The Re.ican government refused to allow the entrance of col-

on.sts into any of the colonies except Austin's, DeWitt's,

and De Leon's. So Teran, commander general of the Eastern

Department of the 4tican public, refused to recognize



the company or to allow the agents to take charge of the

territory of the four grants.

In March, 1834, the government provided for the re-

newal of all grants on which the empresarios had spent ten

thousand dollars trying to fulfill the contracts. In 1832

the government extended Burnet's and Vehlein's grants for

three years, and in 1834 Zavala's grant was extended for

four years. 2 2 By extending the contracts the government

recognized the Galveston Bay and Texas Land Company. Col-

onization began again; and in 1834 George A. Nixon, ap-

pointed land commissioner for the colony, moved to Nacog-

doches. During the late fall of 1834 and the year 1835

titles to land were rapidly issued.

During 1834 and 1835 Nixon issued for Burnet's grant

titles for two hundred and nine leagues and three frac-

tional Darts of leagues to married men, and forty-two titles

to unmarried people. He issued title for four hundred and

four leagues and thirty-two fractional parts of leagues to

families, and sixty titles to unmarried people, in Zavala's

grant. For Vehlein's grant, he issued titles for three hun-

dred and three leagues and six fractional parts of leagues

to families, and fifty-five titles to unmarried people.

In 1834 the Department of Nacogdoches contained four

2.H. P. I. Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. 1, pp. 305,
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municipalities and four towns. 2 3  There were three common

schools in the Department, one at Nacogdoches, one at San

Augustine, and the other at Johnsburg. At that time the

English languqge wafs almost the only one spoken in that

section of the Republic. Tie trade for the year 1834 amount-

ed to 470,000. The exports consisted of cotton, skins of

the deer, otter, and beaver, Indian corn, and cattle. There

were about fifty thousand head of cattle in the whole De-
partment, but there were no sicer because there was no pas-

t ue for then. There were also about sixty thousand head

of swine .

With Lhe beginning of the disturbance in Texas in 1835,

the control of colonization of Texas lands passed from hex-

can to Texan jurisdiction.24  In June, 1837, the Republic

of Texas declared all empresarlo contracts ceased on the day
of the Texas Declaration of Independence. 2 5  So the coloni-

zaton by the Galveston Bay and Texas Land Company ended.

23H. E. Bolton and E. C. Barker, With the akers of
Texas, p. 147.

04F. P. . Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, r. 54 1 .

25
u. P. U. Garmel, Las of Texas, Vol. I, pp. 1324-1325.



CHAPTER III

THE ANGLO-AI ERICAN IN EAS T TEXAS--5AN AUGUSTINE

Colonists began to settle the Ayish Bayou district in

1824. Only a few had come before that date, and Nathan

Davis has been named as the first settler within the region

that is now San Augustine County. He came to Texas with

his slaves from Illinois in 1818 and settled in the Ayish

Bayou near the crossing of the old highway. He lived there

for several years, taking interest in the affairs of the

settlement, and in 1827 ias elected first alcalde of the dis-

trict.

The Anderson family, from Indiana, crossed the Sabine

River in 1819 and settled on the Ayish Bayou near Mr. Davis.

With Mr. Anderson came his son, Bailey Anderson Jr., who

afterwards became the second alcalde. He commanded a com-

pany of volunteers under Colonel 3ulloch in the battle of

Nacogdoches in the campaign of 1832 and was one of the com-

missioners to arrange the tens of surrender of the Mexican

troops under Colonel Piedras.

Some other early settlers were Warren Davis, Benjamin

Thomas, Jonas Harrison, and the English brothers. It was in

1824 that the first great influx of immigration came Into

that part of Texas. They came because of the liberal terms

of the Mexican colonization laws passed by the Mexican Con-

gress.
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Alexander Horton came to Texas in 1824 with his mother

and settled in San Augustine, then called the Ayish Bayou.

He found Jame s Gaines, keeping a ferry on the Sabine River,

and maco G. Call, Brian Daughtery, Nathan Davis, John A.

Williams, Milton Garrett, and Fulcher and Thomas Spencer.

Those were the inhabitants when he arrived, but the country

began to f ill rapidly. People began to make settlements and

to prosper. The early settlers were high-minded farmers who

came to Texas not because of some crime but because they

were honest, industrious men who came to better their condi-

tions, and because they were given large amounts of land to

settle. Some of the new arrivals were David and Isaac Renfro,

Elisha Roberts, Donald McDonald, John Cartwright, Willis

Murphy, Phillip Sublett, John Chumley, Nathan Davis, Obadiah

Hendricks, John Bodine, John Lout, Bailey Anderson, Benjamin

Thomas, ily Thomas, Shedrack Thomas, Thomas Cartwright,

Isaac Lindsey, John G. Love, Martha Lewes and family, George

Jones, Achilles Johnston, Elias K. Davis, Theodore Dorset,

John Dorset, Benjamin Lindsey, Stephen Prater, Wyatt Hanks,

Jame s and Horatio Hanks, Solomon Miller, Hyram Brown, Wil-

liam Loid, George Teel, Edward Teel, John Sprowl, James

Bridges, Peter Galloway, and John McGinnis.'

1 A. Horton, "Life of A. Horton and Early Settlement of
San Augustine County," Texas Historical Association Quarter-

, XIV (1911), 305-306.
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Another list of names includes those of WilliamEng-

lish, Thomas English, Neal McNeal, Jacob Garrett, William

Garrett, Milton Garrett, James 4. Bulloch, Squire Brown,

John Thomas, Gary Thomas, Iredell Thomas, Henry Hendrick,

Edwin Hendrick, William Wilson, Dr. S. P. Wilson, Samuel S.

Davis, Jonas Hale, John S. Wood, Reuben D. Wood, Henry

Augustine, Isaac Thacker, Silliam Loyd, Thomas Malone,

James Perkins, Boyd Irvine, and Claiborne Garrett. 2

In 1825 the settlers began to make improvements, cul-

tivating large farms and building cotton gins. John Sprowl,

Elisha Roberts, and John A. Williams each built a cotton

gin. In the year 1824, William Quirk built a mill on the

Ayish Bayou. Settlers continued to come, and very little

trouble occurred until the Fredonian Revolt. 3 Besides the

first four gins built in 1825 and 1826, several others were

erected by H. M. Harmks, George Teel, and John Polk.

Corn was almost as important a crop as cotton. The

Indians raised corn before the coming of the Spanish. One

tract of land near San Augustine has been producing corn

for almost two hundred years. It was an old mission field

where the Spanish fathers raised corn in 1721.

The group of settlements in this region known as the

2G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 86.

A. Horton, "Life of A. Horton and Early Settlement of
San Augustine County," Tex Historical Association Quairter-
1 XIV (1911), 306.



Ayisi Bayou District included the ones in the northern half

of the present San Augustine County, those on the Attoyae

River, a few on the Angelina River, and the northern part of

Sabine County and the southwestern part of Shelby County.

It was really a part of the Municipality of Nacogdoches,

but was regarded as a separate district because of its dis-

tance from Nacogdoches and because most of the settlers were

Americans.

Alexander Horton wrote an account of the part the set-

tlers around San Augustine took in the Fredonian Revolt. He

tells t hat the colonists of this region could see no cause

for rebellion and refused to take part in it. Edwards se-

cured help from the United States, ordered two companies of

the United States volunteers into San Augustine County, and

stationed them about two miles east of the Ayish Bayou. He

considered the people around San Augustine to be rebels; so

he confiscated their property and ordered them to leave the

country. Many left and went into the United States.

Stephen Prater organized a group, composed of about

sixty Indians and a few white men, to fight the Fredonians.

Besides Colonel Prater there were his two sons, Stephen and

Freeman Prater, Ross Bridges, James Bridges and his son by

the same name, Peter Galloway, John McGinnis, and Alexander

Horton.4 These men arrested a group of Fredonians near San

A.. Horton, "An Early and More Particular Description of
San Augustine County," San Austine Tribune, July 10, 1930.



Augustine, and then waited for others to come from Nacog-

doches and captured them as they arrived. Colonel Edwards

learned of the capture of his men at San Augustine and of

the Mexican troops that were coming to Nacogdoches, and he

went to the United States.

The settlers knew little of the Mexican laws, and as

the county became more thickly settled, it became necessary

to form laws., The :people agreed to elect a man whom they

called an alcalde, and a sheriff to execute his orders. The

alcalde's power extended to all civil and criminal cases.

Lurder, theft, and all cases except divorce were in his

jurisdiction. The alcalde could ask twelve men, who were

good and lawful citizens, to help him in a time when he

thought it necessary or when the parties being tried de-

manded it. The alcaldes were: Nathan Davis, Bailey Ander-

son, John Sprowl, Jacob Garrett, Elisha Roberts, Benjanin

Lindsey, 'illiarm MicFarland, and Charles Taylor.

In 1834 the old alcalde system was abolished and suc-

ceeded by a legally authorized local government under the

Mexican law. The so-called District of Ayish was also abol-

ished and became the Municipality of San Augustine. it in-

cluded all of San Augustine, Sabine, and Shelby Counties,

more than half of Panola, the northern section of Newton,

and a small part of Jasper. 5 The name San Augustine may

have been given by the law makers. The jurisdiction of the

5 H. 7.f. Camrel, Lams of. Texas, Vol. I, p. 352.
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suntamiento, according to the Mexican law, extended to the

entire district; and a municipality of one thousand could

have an alcalde, two regidores, and a clerk. Benjamin

Lindsey was elected for the first office, with the title of

Sole and Constitutional Alcalde; 2mory Raines and John

Bodine were elected first and second reidores; and Joseph

Smith Jolnson was chosen clerk. A special decree was is-

sued to the people of Nacogdoches and the other settlers

east of Austin's colony that titles should be issued to the

lands they had settled. One or two coUmissioners were to

be appointed to execute the law at the expense of persons

interested, and titles that were issued were certified. 6

Georte S. Taylor, georre Antonio Nixon, and George W. Smythe

were appointed commissioners.

in 1832 the settlers held a mass meeting to make plans

for the building of a town, and a committee of fifteen men

was appointed to select a site. The committee members were

William McFarland, Shedrack Thomas, Henry W. Augustine,

David Hoffman, Wyatt Hanks, James Hanks, John G. Love, Vil-

lam arrett, Alexander Horton, David Renfro, Achilles E.

C. Johnson, Elisha Roberts, David 0. Warren, Matthew Cart-

wright, and Phillip A. Sublet. The committee selected a

place between the Ayish Bayou and the Carizzo Creek on the

east side of Ayish Bayou. This was the third time that the

H. P. N. Gmmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. 1, p. 361.
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place had been selected for permanent settlement. It was

first selected by the Indians who built a village there,

and then by the Spanish who selected the site for a mission;

and now it was selected by the Americans for a town. Thomas

S. McFarland was appointed by the committee to survey and

lay out the town and sell lots. The name was to be San

Augustine from the old mission of that name erected by the

Franciscan friars in 1717.7 This was the home of General

James Pinckney Henderson, and for a time it was the home of

0. i. Roberts. The first Protestant church was built there

in 1839 by Littleton Fowler.

The town was laid off on the eastern bank of the Ayish

Bayou on either side of the road. It had. forty-eight blocks

divided into 356 lots, each eighty feet wide and 160 feet

deep, separated by streets forty feet wide. Two lots about

the center were left for a public square on which to build

a courthouse. When the town was planned, it was intended

that the principal business houses were to be built along

the old road. However, the business houses were soon moved

to Columbia Street. The first store in the town was built

by i. D. Thomas near the middle of the block north of the

public square. Augustus Hotchkiss built a store next to it.

In 1844 he rebuilt it of brick, which was the first, and

with the exception of the courthouse built in 1856, the only

7F.I. IMassengill, Texas Towns, p. 162.
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brick house in town until 18090. A large hotel was built by

Almanzon Houston, and Harrison E. Watson and Alexander Horton

Sept the hotel in 1837 when Judge H. k. W'illiamson held the

first District Court there under the "'Republic. The sessions

of court were held in large front rooms facing the street,

and the court paid Fifty dollars each for the courtroom and

the grand jury room The Judge of the First Judicial Dis-

trict was authorized and required to hold a special term of

the District Court in and for the County of San Augustine

on the first Londay of January, 1839.8

For many years the only municipal building in town was

the customs house. This was a building where duties were

collected on goods coming in from the United States. San

Augustine was the third in importance of the ports of entry

under the Republic. The revenue collected between 1836 and

1846 was 62,105.90. The collectors of customs were John G.

Love, I. L. Anderson, Sandford Iolman, John e. Brry, and

William 11'. Hurt. The customs house after 1837 was also used

as a courthouse. After Texas became a part of the United

States, the collection of customs in San Augustine was abol-

ished and the customs house was sold. 9

There were two fine school houses in town, one being

the University building and the other a schoolhouse built

8H. P. N. Ganmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 6.

G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texass, p. 109.
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by the Methodist Church in 1842. San Augustine was noted

for its schools and has been called the Athens of Texas.

Many of the early pioneers were persons of education and

wanted to have education in the settlements. For the first

ten years they were too widely scattered to have regular

schools; there were no rood roads, and there was always the

danger of prowling Indians. Most of the schooling received

by the children was taught by some educated neighbor. After

the town was built, schools could be built. The first school

was a female academy taught by Mrs. Stewart from Virginia.

Another early school was taught by John M. Rankin in

1837 and 1838. There were probably schools of which no rec-

ord was kept. They were private schools under the sole con-

trol of the teacher, with no grades and no examinations.

The pupils did not graduate but went to school until they

were old enough to quit or until they had no money. The San

Augustine University was established for higher education.

The Board of Trustees for the school was composed of Elisha

Roberts, Jesse Burditt, Willivam McFarland, Join. Cartwright,

Sumner Bacon, George Teal, Augustus Hotchkiss, Henry '.

Augustine, Andrew J. Cunningham, Phillip A. Sublett, Iredell

D. Thomas, Albert Gallatin.Kellog, Almanzon Houston, William

W. Holman, and Joseph Rowe. These men were from the town

and the surrounding country. 1 0 The school was organized

1 H. P. 1. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 236.
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in three departments, which were Introductory, Junior, and

Senior, and it was connected with a female academy for young

ladies and a grammar school for children under twelve years

of age.

Perhaps because of their location San Augustine, Nacog-

doches, and Sabine Counties were the cradle of the Catholic

and Protestant religions. The Mexican colonization laws

demanded that the people be oman Catholic in religion.

There were a few Catholics among the first settlers, but for

a long time there was no resident priest among the settle-

ments. The pioneers 1hO settled the Ayish Bayou District

during the period from 1818 to 1834 were nearly all members

of Protestant churches in their home states, but the es-

tablished religion for the colonists in Texas was that of

the roman Catholic Church. So during the period of early

colonization the district was almost entirely without re-

ligious services of any kind. At the beginning of the rev-

olution, when the people were favoring freedom and self-

determination, missionaries began to cross the Sabine and

preach to the people. As San Augustine was the first town

to be reached, naturally the missionaries would first begin

their work in that region. Within a circle of a few miles

of the town were the earliest beginnings of the Methodist,

the Presbyterian, the Cumberland Presbyterian, and the Bap-

tist Churches. Among the Protestant churches the Methodist

was the first in Texas. In 1833 a camp meeting was held



east of San Aujustine, at which a church organization was

completed, with forty-eight members and w ith Major Samuel

B. iedahan elected Class Leader. That was the first $eth-

odist Church to be organized within what was then known to

be the limits of the later Republic of Texas. 11  The Texas

Revolution interrupted religious progress, but after the

war Protestantism was firmly established. From the begin-

ning, the town of San Augustine was an important center for

Methodist work in Texas, and also for the Presbyterian

Church. The first Baptist Church in San Augustine County

seems to have been the old Macedonia Church on Harvey's

Creek. The present Baptist Church of San Augustine is one

of the leading churches of the town. In 1831, in Nacog-

doches, among the seventy-two strangers admitted by the

town council, there were twenty-seven of different religions.

One man believes that not more than one-fourth of the early

Texans took oath for the Catholic religion.

Most of the early settlers of Texas came from the

United States, and many people tried to form opinions con-

cerning the character of the colonists. The people in the

Unit ed States generally believed that most of the colonists

left tneir old homes to escape punishment for crime. The

settlements were made up of about the same kind of people

as were to be found in any American frontier community.

1 1 G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 271.
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There is no real proof that Texas received more than its

proportion of undesirable citizens. The settlers from the

United States inherited the traditions, customs, and polit-

ical principles of the Americans and naturally wanted their

own laws, institutions, and civil liberty.

Th e earliest homes of the Anglo-Americ ans we re crudely

built of logs, roofed with boards and floored with puncheons.

Sliding boards served as windows; and only the wealthy could

afford a house of two rooms with a hall between, a porch in

front and a kitchen behind. Many houses had only one room

with a thatched roof . There were few good carpenters among

the early settlers; and with few tools, it was almost in-

possible to 'build weatherproof and comfortable houses. The

furniture of these houses varied from the near elegance of

the homes of the wealthier colonists, who were able to bring

furniture with then., to that of the poor people who brought

only a few articles with them. The ordinary furniture was

very crude, with tables being made of slabs and limbs of

trees sawed to fit. The chairs were made of sticks and

crosspieces and covered with animal skins. Often beds were

built onto the walls, with skins for mattresses. In some

homes the mattresses were made of Spanish moss, corn husks,

or grass. As more colonists came and prosperity increased,

furniture and other comforts were imported. The men talked

hopefully of the future, and the children were happy because

everything was new to them; but the women still talked sadly
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of their old homes and friends. 1 2

Food. was scarce in the early settlements. At first the

crops were poor, and the men and boys hunted deer and turkey

and fished to furnish food for the families. Sometimes some

of the settlers ate the mustang ponies which were numerous

on the prairie.13  Later they had corn, beef, milk, and

pork, and they gathered wild honey from bee trees. Corn was

easily raised, and many times it was left standing in the

field to be pulled as the grain was needed. One traveler

writes of having to wait until the corn was gathered, ground,

kneaded, and baked before he could have bread to eat. Mills

and towns were far apart, and the people often had to go a
day's journey to grind corn or to buy coffee. Only a few

had mIlk and butter and wheat bread to eat. Children for-

got and some did not know what wheat bread was like. Flour

cost ten dollars a barrel, and few people had money with
wIch to buy coffee and tobacco, which they considered ne-

cessities.14

The clothing of the colonists was of the very simplest

kind. Most of the cabins contained spinning wheels and

looms which were used in spinning thread and weaving cloth.

That and buckskin furnished the main kinds of material for

E. C. Barker, eadin.s in Texas Hstory, p. 142.

13 . Wharton, The Lone Star State, p. 69.

14N. Smithwick, The Evolution oL a State, pp. 17-16.
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the clothes. Calico cost about fifty cents a yard and was

occasionally used by the women for party dresses. Sometimes

articles of clothing were made of animal skins. Some of the

colonists wore moccasins and many went barefoot, because

shoes were hard to get. Noah mitwick tells of a dance at

which the people who had shoes would loan their shoes to

those who had none curing part of the dance. Even with

scanty clothing, poor houses, and a scarcity of food, visi-

tors were always welcomed and given the best of everything.

Texans became famous for hospitality and kindness to strang-

ers and travelers.

Nearly all the early settlers were farmers who came to

Texas because of the cheapness and fertility of the soil.

Teachers, lawyers, physicians, ministers, and other pro-

fessional men depended more on their farms for a living dur-

inc the early years than on their professions. The store-

keepers were farmers as well as merchants. Most of the

settlers came from the Southern States and brought with

them the agriculture al traditions of the South. Intensive

fanning was not tried; and methods of cultivation varied

from those used by great planters, who brught their slaves

with them to work the land, to those of small farmers who

cultivated the soil with the help of the other members of

the fa:Plies. Cotton and corn were the most important crops,

with sugar cane and tobacco next important items. Stock-

raising was important, and on some fans there were herds
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of cattle and horses, and also a few hogs and chickens.

Some farmers made gardens; but although they worked hard,

many of the early settlers were often hungry. Spring floods

and dry summers ruined the crops. Among the early settlers,

the professional men had little opportunity to practice

the r r ofessions f before 1036; so agriculture was almost

the only occupation to ch. ose. The physicians were the

only ones who found a great deal of practice in the settle-

ments.

For anusement the colonists hunted, fished, rode horses,

held shooting matches, and ran foot races. Even in their

royh surroundings the people enjoyed themselves as much as

people of today. At first there were no schools, no Sunday

Schools, nor churches; but people talked about these and

looked forward to the time when Texas wrOuldehave them. Even

in small towns, society cyas stratified, with certain feami-

lies reconized as leaders in social life and in civil af-

f airs. uch visiting was done, and the entertainment of an

occasional traveler did much to keep the settlers from be-

ing too lonely. There were no political gatherings nor

church services, but there were hunting and fishing parties,

shooting matches, and dances which brought the people to-

gether several times a year. Barbecues were given to cele-

brate weddings, and whenever men came together there were

tournaments to test their strength and ability by riding

wild mustangs, lassoing cattle, or wirestling.
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In all parts of Texas there were many Indians. Those

in the eastern part were friendly, but they were often

thieves and great loafers. They would hang around a cabin

and"demand food or anything that caught their fancy. The

colonists treated the, kindly; they were afraid to drive

them away, for they might return to steal something or to

Surn the houses. Roving bands of wild Indians som etires

assed through the country burning homes, murdering people,

raiding ranches, and carrying off herds of cattle. This

happened more often in the west than in the east.

Travel in early Texas was very difficult, as there

was not a road in the province as we now speak of rods.

The courses usually called roads were pat-is sometimes

marked by trees. As late as 1835 the settlers could not

conveniently use carriages. Nearly all travel was on horse-

back, but occasionally women and children traveled in carts

drawn by oxen. Wagons could be used in dry weather, but

even traveling on horseback could not be done in wet weather

in the river bottoms. The most f amous road through Texas

was the King'Y highway, which ran from the Rio Grande south

of Eagle Pass through San Antonio, Bastrop, and Crockett to

Nacogdoches. That is probably the road traveled by Saint-

Denis, and it was the principal trail from east to west

during the Spanish and Mexican periods. Two other roads

began at Goliad, one running northwestward to the Trinity
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river and the other running eastward and ending at Nacog-

docnes. It was easier to travel by water and much cheaper

than going by land; so many of the early settlements were

built near the rivers. Small boats could travel quite a

distance up the rivers, and goods were hauled in ox wagons

from landing places on the river to towns and settlements

in the interior.

The early Texans seem to have been rather intelligent.

Even though they were intelligent, they read very little;

and there appear to have been only a few libraries in the

early period. Naturally there were some lawless and desper-

ate characters among the settlers, and there were some good

and patriotic men who did not like connection with P1exico

and despised the Mexican system of law. Those men were

thinking of the independence of Texas and forgot their prom-

,se to the Mexican government when it gave them land. How-

ever, the greater part of the colonists were law-abiding

ci t izens with no particular grievances against Mexico until

1835.15

The Constitution which Mexico adopted in 1824 was not

acceptable for very long to the American colonists. It left

out what the Americans considered most necessary: trial by

jury and the right of accused persons to bail. It provided

for the union of Church and State by requiring every loyal

15E. C. Barker, Readings in Texas Histoy, pp. 141-146.
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citizen to be a Roman Catholic in religion. It provided

for the organization and use of an army which made the mil-

itary pawe r the supreme department. The colonists were

against military power above civil power, and they also

were against the union of Church and State. The Constitu-

tion also provided that certain military, religious, and

other classes of citizens might become exempted from the

observance of the general laiws and determine their rights

by there own laws and through their own courts. Americans

could not like the Mexican form of government because of

the difference in Americn and Cexican political deals.



CHAPTER IV

PARTICIPATION OF A1' TEXAtNS IN TF REVOLUTION

The United States sympathized with Mexico in winning

her freedom from Spain, and when freedom was won, Mexico

welcomed the Americans smong her colonists. After a time,

Mexico began to suspect that the United States did not want

her to have Texas, but wanted at least a part of the prov-

ince for herself. Mexico thought that the United States

wanted Texas and, knowing the Anglo-American greed for ter-

ritory, began to watch carefully. They realized that the

Americans had made their homes in Texas but their hearts

were still in their native states. For many reasons, a

conflict between the Mexicans and the Americans was inev-

itable. The land question lay at the bottom of the troubles

which beset the people of East Texas.1 These people had

worked hard and established homes in this region; and since

the Mexicans were given preference in everything, they were

afraid the federal government would take away their land.

The trouble started chiefly with the Fredonian Rebellion,

and it could not be avoided because the Mexicans and the

Americans were full of distrust for each other. The Revo-

lution actually began in 1835, but war clouds had been

gathering long before then. The laws of 1830 passed by the

Mexicans were to make stronger the hold of Mexico on Texas.

1G. L. Crocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, p. 128.
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One of these laws forbade colonists from countries touching

Mexico to settle in Texas anywhere near their own border.

It suspended land contracts for colonies not already estab-

lished and prevented any foreigners from entering Texas from

the north without a pas sport from a Mexican agent. 2

Other laws were passed by the Mexican Congress to set-

tle colonies of convicts and deserters in Texas, which would

quickly destroy the prosperity of the province. Texas was

forced to be joined to the Mexican state of Coahuila. The

Texans were promised it would last only until their state

was strong enough for a separate government. The colonists

thought they were ready for self-government, but Mexico was

afraid that separate government would be a step toward in-

dependence. When the settlers first came to Texas, Mexico

promised that for six years they should be free from tax-

ation and could import without duty all supplies really

needed for their own use. When the time expired, taxes

were levied and Mexico made the collection of taxes and

duties disagreeable and humiliating. The colonists were

partly to blame, because some of them had made a practice

of smuggling luxuries for sale. All these things led toward

war, but the main cause was the entire lack of sympathy be-

tween the1Nexicans and the Anglo-American colonists. The

misunderstandings arose as a result of differences in the

2G. P. Garrison, Texas, p. 159.
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two races.3 They disagreed on forms of government and re-

ligion, and were of different races speaking different

languages.

In 1828 General Mier y Ter6n was appointed to fix the

eastern boundary of Texas, and in 1830 he was appointed

Commandant General of the Eastern Provinces. General Ter6n

was an honest man and a brave soldier, devoted to the in-

terests of his country but not insensible to the needs and

r'its of the American colonists. He saw that if the Anglo-

Americans were not checked they would in a few years wipe

out Mexican occupation. It was partly because of his report

of the situation that the Law of 1830 was passed. General

Tern decided to plant Indians in the region by granting

them legal titles, believing that would hinder the growth

of the American settlements. At the same time, Colonel

Piedras was blocking an attempt of the civil authorities to

give titles for their lands to the American colonists in the

Ayish Bayou District.

In 1830 the tax exemption law ended, and in 1831 Colonel

John Davis Bradburn was sent with some soldiers to establish

a customs house at Anahuac. The Mexican authorities were

courteous and fair in their dealings with the colonists and

no trouble appeared among them. Bradburn began to antago-

nize the people, and in May he imprisoned W. B. Travis,

3* H. Lowrie, Cultural Conflicts in Texas, p. 179.
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Patrici Jack, and some other colonists. Dr. N. P. Labadie

gives an account of the trouble at Anahuac. He says that

Bradburn offered freedom to all the slaves who presented

themselves to him. Three runaway; slaves from Louisiana

claimed his protection; and when William I. Logan, the own-

er of t he slaves, demanded them, Bradburn refused to hand

them over until Logan gave proof that he was the owner.

Logan went back to Louzsiana and secured proof; but when he

presented it to Bradburn, the latter claimed that the ne-

groes had asked for the protection of the Mexican flag and

refused to give them up. One dark, rainy night, a messenger

brought Bradburn a =letter which warned him that ajmagistrate

on the Sabine River was organizing a force to take the ne-

yroes. Bradburn was greatly alarmed and sent scouts to see

if they could find the en. They found no trace of a force;

so Pradburn, believing it was a trick played by Travis, had

him and Jack arrested. 4 The settlers united and captured

the garrisn at Velasco and moved on to Anahuac. B.dburn

sent to Nacogdoches for Colonel Piedras for help. On

June 19, 1832, Piedras set out for Anahuac to settle the

dispute there. He settled the trouble by releasing the

prisoners and removing Bradburn from office.

While Colonel Piedras was away from Nacogdoches, the

settlers in the Ayish Bayou District held a meeting and

4E. Rowe, "The Disturbance at Anahuac," Texas Histor-
ica. Association grterly, VI (1103), 280-281.
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talked about going to help their countrymen. The people

vere in sympathy with Santa Anna in Mexico and were against

the Mexican authorities in East Texas. Soon they organized

ared forces and collected guns and provisions for an expe-

dition. Colonel James V. Bulloch, who had served under

General Andrew Jackson at New Orleans, was chosen leader of

the group. The colonists marched to Nacogdoches and sent

word to Colonel Piedras either to declare for Santa Anna

and the Iexican Constitution of 1824 or to surrender.

Piedras received the message courteously but refused to ac-

cept the demands. So the colonists attacked the town. The

Mexicans retreated and the settlers followed until they ar-

rived at the stone house, where the exicans fought from the

cover of the stone fort and the colonists from any shelter

they could find. During the night the Mexicans slipped

away, but the next morning the settlers followed. They

captured the Mexicans at Durst Crossing on the Angelina

River, and Colonel Piedras resigned his conmand. He re-

turned to Nacogdoches; and in the terms of surrender agreed

upon, Piedras was to return to Mexico by way of Velasco,

and the troops were sent to San Antonio.

Colonel Bulloch reported that in the Mexican ranks

forty-seven were killed and as many wounded, while only

three colonists were killed and five wounded. Only a few

people took part in the battle of Nacogdoches and the losses

were slight, but it was an important battle in Texas history.
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It ended the first struggle between the colonists and the

,exican authorities and removed the last Mexican soldiers

from Texas east of San Antonio. It helped to bring about

the conventions in which the people of East Texas took a

prominent part. Nacogdoches and the Redlands, instead of

being a source of danger from a Mexican garrison, became a

reserve of strength and support. The Ayish Bayou District

became a stronghold of American immigration.

All these events of 1832 made the people in the col-

onies realize that they must unite in a common cause and

present their grievances to the Mexican government. They

were not thinking of being disloyal to the federal govern-

ment, but they had to have their complaints removed. The

citizens of East Texas eagerly answered the call of Horatio

Chriesmann and John Austin issued August 22, 1832, for a

convention of five delegates from each town precinct and

civil district in Texas to meet at San Felipe to discuss

their problems. 5 The settlements in East Texas sent able

and well-qualified representatives to the convention. From

the District of Nacogdoches went Charles S. Taylor and

Thomas Hastings. Delegates from the Ayish Bayou District

were Phillip Sublett, Donald hvMcDonald, William McFarland,

iyatt Hanks, and Jacob Garrett. From Sabine were Benjamin

Holt, Absalom Hier, and Jessie Parker. From the Tennehan

District were Willia English, Frederick Faye, George Butler,

H. P. La. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 479.
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John . Bradley, and Jonas Harrison. From the District of

Snow River were Thomas D. Beauchamp, Elijah.Isaacs, Samuel

Looney, and James Looney. 6  William cFarland, Jonas Harri-
son, and Charles S. Taylor became leaders in the convention.

The convention was called together by Joln. Austin, who gave

reasons for calling the convention. He said that movements

in Texas had been misrepresented by the enemies, and it was

necessary for the Texans to dispute these claims and declare

their firm and unshaken adherence to the Mexican Confedera-

tion and Constitution and their readiness to do their duty

as Mexican citizens. 7

Jonas Harrison became chairman of a committee to take

into consideration the situation of the land business to

the east of the San Jacinto River, and William McFarland

became chairman of the committee for the admission of Texas
as a separate state in the Mexican union. The committee for

lands granted to the Indians or petitioned for by them was

composed entirely of East Texans. Charles S. Taylor of

Nacogdoches was the chairman, and the other members were

William McFarland, Jonas Harrison, Phillip A. Sublett, John

4. Bradley, and Wyatt Janks.

A committee composed of two members from each district

was appointed to report the petitioning for a State Govern-

ment. The ones chosen from the East Texas districts were

6H. P. I. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 480.

H. P. N. Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, pp. 480-481.
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C. S. Taylor, I. Hantz, William McFarland, >. Hanis, E. Isaacs,

S. Looney, G. Butler, and J. M. Bradley. 8 The people wanted

to have all their transactions and obligations written in

the English language except those which had an immediate

connection with the government.

The people of Texas were not satisfied with the results

of this convention, and in March, 1833, delegates again met

in convention at San Felipe. The delegates were almost the

same except that Sam Houston was one of the representatives

from San Augustine. In Mexico, Bustamente had retired from

the government and the Republican Party, with Santa Anna as

leader, was in power. The people felt that they could ask

for more in this convention than they had in the one of 1832.

A committee was appointed to ask for the separation of Texas

from Coahuila, and Sam Houston was chairman of a committee

to draw up a proposed constitution for the new state. Austin

carried to Miexico City the petition for separate statehood.

Texas based her rights to be a state on the following state-

ments:

lt. It possesses sufficient qualifications,
and the people of Texas have manifested their de-
sire to be a state.

22. The natural right that she has always
had of organizing herself as a state, and of oc-
cupying her rank as such, at the side of her sis-
ters, the other states, on account of having been
a distinct province at the time of the independence.

3rd. The guarantee of the law of May 7, 1824.
4S'. The right that is guaranteed to it by

8 H. P. N. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 484.
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the system adopted by the Mexican Republic, of pro-
moting her welfare, and of securing her interior
prosperity and tranquillity by an adequate organ-
ization of her local government.

5.U. The duty, and the interest of Texas, of
cementing and assuring her permanent union with the
Mexican federation.

6th. The right that all people have of saving
themselves from anarchy and from utter ruin. 9

The colonists found that they could now work together.

The Ayish Bayou District, which was now organized as the

Municipality of San Augustine, was acknowledged as a part

of the province, and its delegates were equal to the others

in the conventions.

In March, 1833, Santa Anna, leader of the Liberal Party,

was elected President of Mexico. He only used his party to

get into power, and in 1834 he dissolved the Mexican Congress

and gave himself dictatorial powers. He appointed general

Cos Governor of Texas with civil jurisdiction. As a result,

the wear Party in Texas felt that Texas should separate from

Mexico and a revolution should be started. The members of

the Peace Party were more careful and wanted to wait until

the colonists were in a better position to act against Mex-

ico. These were men of property and caution, but most of

the thinking men of Texas knew that separation from Mexico

would soon come.

The people of Nacogdoches and San Augustine held meet-

ings and adopted resolutions to pledge cooperation of East

Texas with other Texans in event of an armed invasion.

F. W. Johnson, Texas and the Texans, Vol. I, pp. 113-114.
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Stephen F. Austin returned from Mexico when he had been

convinced that war was inevitable if the colonists were to

keep their liberties and that a convention should be as-

sembled.

Austin had reached Mexico Oity in 1833 in the midst of

a terrible epidemic of cholera. He had worked all semer

trying to get the plans for separate statehood recognized.

In December he learned that Santa Anna was at heart a des-

pot and that Congress would not permit Texas a separate

statehood. Santa Anna said the general government would

consider all of the petitions presented by Austin and would

recommend to the state government a reform of the judiciary

system, so as to give t he colonists trial by jury. The

government of the state was to secure for the colonists all

privileges of which they were worthy as Mexican citizens in

civil as well as in criminal affairs. To accomplish this,

there were to be established juries wholly in conformity

'flt the petition of the colonists. 10 Austin succeeded in

getting a revocation of the Decree of 1830 forbidding other

emigration from the States.

Just before Austin left Mexico City, he wrote a letter

to the yu.ntamiento at San Antonio, urging the people of that

jurisdiction to join the other districts of Texas in request-

ing separate statehood. The letter was sent to the Mexican

officials at Mexico City, and they ordered the arrest of

l0F. a V. Johnson, Texas and the Texans, Vol. I, p. 124.
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Austin. He was arrested at Saltillo and carried back to

Mexico City and placed in a dungeon. Austin's imprisonment

cast a pall of gloom over the colonists, and they held no

conventions in 184. On October 5, 1834, Santa Anna called

a council to discuss the state of affairs in Texas. It was

decided that Texas should remain a part of Coahuila, and

Austin was sent back to prison. He was allowed to return

to Texas in 1835.

Bitter feelings were again aroused between the Mexicans

and the A mericans. General Cos crane to Texas with his sol-

diers and ordered the arrest of some prominent citizens.

The settlers had a feeling of terror and dread while rumors

of Indian uprisings and of exican invasions were spread

throughout the province.. The suspense was broken by the

battle of Gonzales. Colonel Ugartechea, with some Mexican

soldiers, went to Gonzales to take away a cannon which the

government had furnished the settlement some years before

for protection against the Indians. Several hundred Texans

gathered and prevented the Mexicans from taking away the

cannon.

In the summer of 1835 the committee of safety at San

Felipe proposed that a committee meet as a temporary com-

mittee of safety before the meeting of the general conven-

tion in the autu*n. The group net and made a report to the

Convention of 18o.11 San Augustine was represented by A.

1 H. P. N. Gaammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, pp. 507-508.
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Touston, Jacob Garrett, William N. Sigler, and A. >. C.

Johnson; and Nacogdoches was represented by iilLnam Whitaker,

Sa iHouston, Daniel Parker, James W. Robinson, and N. Robins.

On the motion of Sam Houston of Nacogdoches, Dr. Branch

T. Archer was chIosn chairman of the Consultation. He rec-

ommended a declaration of cause, organization of a provision-

al government, a military organization, a conciliatory ar-

rangement with the Indians, and an examination of fraudulent

land grants.' 2

A plan for a provisional government was adopted. There

were to be a governor, a lieutenant-governor, a major-general

of te BTexas armies, and a general Council composed of one

member from each of the thirteen municipalities, presided

over by the lieutenant-governor. oHenry Smith was chosen

to be t1he governor, and James N. Robinson of Nacogdoches was

chosen lieutenant-governor. The plan for a provisional gov-

ernment provided for the closing of the land office during

the un settled and agitated period so that no land grants

could be made. A committee was appointed to make a decla-

ration of causes that caused the people to take up arms

against Mexico. On this committee were S. Houston from

Nacogdoches and A. Houston from San Augustine. 1 4  Wharton,

12i. . harton, Texas Under hans J s, Vol. 1, p. 253.

A. J. Houston, Texas Independence, p. 62.

14*. P. ..ammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 515.
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a delegate from Brazoria, led the group for immediate dec-

laration of index endence; but Sare Houston wanted to try

again for the Mexican Federal Constitution of 1824. The

Texans hoped that some of the Mexicans would join in help-

ing preserve the Constitution. That was impossible; and

when the next convention met, a declaration of independence

was adopted. 1 5 The Cherokee Indians were represented in

the Consultation by Chief Bowles, Big Mush, and three other

chiefs. One of the most important acts of the Consultation

Was to sign a statement that the Cherokee Indians and their

bands were entitled to the land they claimed north of the

San Antonio Road and the Neches River and between the An-

gelina and Sabine Rivers. The members of the convention

signed the agreement on November 13, 1835.16

On December 22, 1835, a large convention met at San

Augustine, where Jonas Harris presented a declaration of

relations with rexico showing the necessity for complete

separation fro Mexico. He instructed the delegates of the

Eastern section who were going to the Convention in 1836 to

use their greatest power to get a declaration of independ-

ence. His plan was unanimously adopted by the people,

which showed they were in favor of it. 'hen the men from

San Augustine signed the declaration of independence, they

voiced the opinion of the people whom they represented.

C. R. Wharton, The Republic of Texas, p. 124.

16
I. P. I. Gazoel, L~Ays off Texas, Vol. I, pp. 546-547.
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The Convention met at Washington in March, 1836, and a

committee was appointed to draft a declaration of independ-

ence.17 George C. Childress of Red River County had pre-

pared a draft that had already been approved by Houston and

others. The Committee brought in the report on March 2,

1836; it was read and adopted on a motion of Sam Houston.

It was unanimously adopted. 1 8  The document was signed with-

in the next few days. The Convention then adopted a con-

sttu tion for the new Republic which was signed. by the rem-

-ers in the same way they signed the Declaration. Because
of soe trouble between Governor Smith and the Council, Sam

Houston had not been given control of the army. Now the

convention confirmed his appointment as commander-in-chief

of the Texas armies.

General Cos returned to Mexico and the Texans began to

feel safe; therefore they were surprised by Santa Anna's

entrance into Texas. Petitions of the Texas conventions,

Stephen Austin's visit to 0exico City, decline of Mexican

influence north of the Rio Grande, and several skirmishes

between the colonists and the authorities resulted in Santa

Anna's decision to garrison Texas with 2our thousand soldiers.

He said it was to protect the settlers from Indians, but his

:I. 1 P. N. Camel, Laws of T.xPs, Vol. 1, p. 826.

1E. . Barker, "The Texan Declaration of Causes for
Taking Up Arms Alainst Mexico," Texas Historical Association
guart er1.., XV (1911-1912), 183-184.
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real purpose was known by his saying, militaryy colonies

such as those established by Russia in Siberia . . . would

be the most convenient for Texas in my opinion. "19 The fall

of the Alamo and the massacre at Goliad took away the line

of defense against the invaders and left the colonists

shocked and stunned. News was slow in traveling to the

Easvt; so the first San Augustine company reached Samous-

ton's aory at the Trinity River. The company was composed

of about forty men under the conmand of Captain William

Kimbro, with Jamess ?owe as first lieutenant. Others soon

fAolloxd 1efrom the East Texas legion. San Augz.ustine and all

the other sections of East Texas did their part bravely in

the Revolution and were well represented at the battle of

San Jacinto.

The news of Santa Annas deed at the Alamo filled the

colonists with terror. Immediately they began to leave

their homes and move et:stward. The army and practically

the entire population moved to the Brazos River. host of

the families traveled separately until they reached the

Brazos River and they had to stop there for a crossing.

There was only one small ferry boat and it took a long time

for the people to cross. Hundreds of the colonists reached

the Sabine and crossed it. Lieutenant Hitchcock, who was

with General Gaines at Camp Sabine, says the camp of the

colonis t s, made of sheets and quilts spread imong the trees,

D. Wasson, The .Iing of Texas Independence, p. 6.
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extended up and down the east bank of the Sabine for twenty

miles.

The people of Nacogdoches and San Augustine took part

in the "Runaway Scrape" in which the settlers abandoned

their hores and fled across the border. These people in

the East were not so much afraid of Santa Anna's army at

that time as they were of Indian uprisings. They did not

know what to expect of the Indians. ien news arrived of

the retreat of General Houston, the people everywhere left

their homes. Wagons and carts were filled with women, chil-

dren, and necessary articles that could be carried, and the

people hurried to safety across the Sabine River. For the

fourth time the people abandoned East Texas.

An interesting story has been told of an incident which

showed that the people did not entirely forget the soldiers

and their needs in their fear. One cart was so heavily

loaded that the driver threw out some bacon at the foot of

an oak tree just west of San Augustine. The next man that

came by thought the bacon was left for Houston's army, which

was supposed to be retreating in that direction; so he threw

out more bacon. Others come by and did the same, until there

was a large 4le of bacon which the army would have been glad

to have accepted if it had reached that particular place.

The battle of San Jacinto was not a great battle and

there was not a large number of soldiers taking part in it,
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but it was one of the most important battles of history. As

a result, Texas was freed from the rule and ownership of

Mei co. Later, because of Texas winning her freedom, the

territory from ihe Sabine River to the Pacific Ocean was
added to the United States. The settlers of that great

territory owe much to the town of San Augustine c5 a source

of inspiration and power in the freeing of T exas. The good

news of the battle of San Jacinto spread rapidly to Nacog-
doche, San Augustine, and Natchitoches, Louisiana, where

many of the Texans had sought refuge. The settlers began

returning to their homes. The independence of Texas had

been declared at the Washington Convention on arch 2, 1836,

but t was not a real fact until the battle of San Jacinto.
Mexco hated to acknowledge defeat by rebels and thought

the Texans were ingrates. They considered them beggars be-

cause they asked or land. The Mexicans tried to believe

that tie United States was the cause of the rebellion, for

they knew that the Americans wanted Texas and that many

American volunteers fought in the Texas Revolution.20

20J. H. Smith, "The Mexican Recognition of Texas,"
American Historical Review, XVI (1911), 39.



CHAPTER V

GEIMiAN SETTLEMENT I ,EAST TEXAS

Texas was first brought to the attention of the German

people through J. V. Hece e's book, travels TLrourh the

United States. Mecke had been in Texas for about one year;

and when he returned to Geriany, he published a report about

the beautiful climate, the rich, productive soil, and the

highly favorable conditions for migration to TexasJ lHe

thought it vould be a good plan for Germans to settle in

Texas. Persons in Texas and in Germany developed an inter-

est in bringing German colonists into Texas. Some thought

it would help Spain to defend her frontier against the

French; some empresarios wanted to carry out their contracts

by set t ling their colonies either in whole or in part with

Germans; one wanted to settle Germans in Texas to produce

raw materials for a projected industrial development in

Spain; one (anted Prussia to buy Texas; and others wanted

Swiss and German immigrants because they opposed slavery.

The first proposal to settle Germans was made by Morphi,

the Spanish consul at New Orleans. He wanted to grant them

seven square leagues of land upon the Gulf of Mexico near

the Louisiana frontier, to exempt them from taxation, to

allow thern free trade with all nations, and to invest them

with local authority. The plan was not approved either by

1M. Tiling, The German Element . Yexas, p. 7.
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the local authorities or by the Cadiz Regency. 2

A few Germans came into Texas at various ties before

any German set t lements were established. A few German ad-

venturers came into Texas in 1821 with Dr. James Long.

Among these were Eduard houstein, Joseph Kirksen, Ernst von

Rosenberg, Wilhelm Miller, Carl Cuans,Gaspar Porton, and

August Blaccher.

Th cradle of the German settlements in Texas is the

little town of Industry in Austin County. It was settled

by riedrich Ernst, who came to America in 1829 intending

to settle in New York. He and Charles Fordtran decided to

go on to Pissouri, but when they reached New Orleans, a

fellow-traveler gave Ernst a ramphlet containing a descrip-

tion of Texas; so they decided to go there. They landed at

Harrisburg on April 1, 1831, and went inland by ox cart.

On April 16, 1831, Ernst received a league of land on the

west side of the west fork of sill Creek, a region inhabited

by Indians who were quiet and friendly and who did not harm

the new settlers. Ernst gave Fordtran one-fourth of his

league for surveying it for hin.

Because Friedrich Ernst changed his mind and came to

Texas, other German families followed him. He wrote a let-

ter to a friend which was published in a newspaper in Germany

and read by many people. He pictured Texas as being a

2?. L. Biesele, The HLstory of the German Settlements
in Texas, p. 22.
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wonderful place and compared the climate to that of Southern

Italy. 0  He stated that every married settler could have a

league of land with the only exprense being one hundred and

sixty dollars for surveying and recording. Every farmer

could become well-to-do in only a few years. In Olden-

burg, where the people were generally poor, the letter could

not fail to create a big sensation, especially since the

eigrat ion fever had seized hold of the people. As a re-

sult, some of the German families were induced to emigrate

to Texas and settle near Industry. Mrs. Ernst said that in

1833 the families of illiam Bartels, Zimmerschreih and J.

Juergens came to live near Ernst's family; and there came in

1834 the families of hMarcus Amsler, Karl AImasler, Jacob

Voltors, Robert Kleberg, Louis von Roeder, William Frels,

Siebel, t. W. Grassmeyer, Joseph Biegel, and others.

In Germany Friedrich Ernst had been chief gardener for

the grand duke of Oldenburg. He chose an ideal place for a

settlement and built his home in the valley of Mill Creek.

Thne house was six-cornered, built in the style of his sum-

mer-house in Oldenburg, and was different from the log

houses of the pioneer. He raised corn on his farm; and since

It 'as quite a distance to a mill, he made his own grist mill

in the form of a mortar shaped out of a stump. This was

used to grind corn into meal, from which bread was baked.

.L. biesele, T le isory of the German Settlements
in Texas, p. 44.
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Sometimes dried meat or smoked meat was the only item of

food, but by 1838 Ernst had a large orchard planted with

peach trees and a vegetable garden with all kinds of vege-

gable s.

in 1838 the town of Industry was started. 4 Ernst's

place had been called Industry, and Fordtran's place had

been called Lazytown or Indolence. On November 28, 1838,

Ernst made known that he had laid out a town for German im-

migrants on his land. He was not a speculator who wished

to take advantage of German ini'gration, but wanted educated

fellow-countrien to come to his town.

NOTICE to GERAN ILMIGiINT

The undersigned has laid out a part of his
plantation as a town for German imiigrants in or-
der to provide them with a temporary healthful
place of abode, where they may escape during the
smnmer from the danger of fever in the flat coast
country, become accustomed to the climate, and
look about leisurely for a definite occupation.

This town, called Industry, lies in the ro-
mantic valley of the kill creek 28 miles above San
Felipe and nearly in the center of the republic.
Three main roads cross here. The distance to the
Brazos is 23 miles and to the Colorado 17 miles.
The region ix one of the most thickly settled in
Texas and inhabited by many Germans. Artisans will
have a good market for their wares, but they are
cautioned to bring along the necessary raw mate-
rials and to have sufficient funds to establish
themselves and to provide the necessities of life.

Since the undersigned is not a speculator
desirous of turning immigration to his advantage,
but rather wishes to live in a neighborhood of

4j. L. Biesele, "The First German Settlement in Texas,"
Southwestern historical Quarterly, XXXIT (1950), 33 4 -336.
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educated countrymen, building lots 50 ft. by 150 ft.
Will b: sold for twenty dollars, if necessary on six
month credit.
hr. Bonzano will give further information upon re-
que st.

Industry, November 28, 1838 Fred. Ernst5

This town has remained strictly a German settlement to

the present time, with a thriving and progressive popula-

tion. 0  It grew slowly, which was a characteristic of the

German settlements in that part of the state. In 1838,

J. G. Sieper became the first postmaster of Industry, and

the first drug store was opened in that year. In 1840 drs.

Ernst opened a hotel which became a gathering place for Ger-

mans who were going from Galveston and Houston into the in-

terior.

The second German settlement in Texas was Biegel's Set-

tleiient, later known as Biegelts Post Office. It was founded

in 1832 by Joseph Biegel when he started his farm on Cummins

Creek. It is in Fayette County, and besides Biegel these

men co e to the settlement: B. Scherer in 1834 from Switz-

erland and J. C. Tschiedel, Andre, J. D. Meyer, and John

lelbie in 1844.

Cat Spring in Austin County was founded in 1834 as a

direct result of Ernst's letter and because some of the

Germans wanted to live under a republican form of govern-

ment, with personal, religious, and political liberty and

5R. L. Biesele, "The First German Settlement in Texas,"

Southwestern Historical quarterly, XKXIV (1931), 337.
6 1. Tiling, The German Element in Texas, p. 20.
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freedom from tyrannies. Cat Spring is southwest of BevIlle

on the edge of the Post Oak Woods about ten riles west of

Sea ley on the Missouri, Kansas and Texas Ranlway. The first

permanent settlers there were: Marcus Amsler, Karl Amsler,

Louis von Roeder, Albrecht von Roeder, Joachim von Roeder,

and Valeska von Roeder. Louis von Roeder surveyed the

Amslersf tract of land for one-third of the property. The

von oeders cae to Texas in 1834 as the advance party com-

nosed of Lieutenant Ludwig Angon Siegmund von Roeder and

rife, his daughters Louise and Caroline, his sons Rudolph,

Otto, and Wilhelm, Robert Kleberg and his vife, Rosalie von

Roeder, Louis Kleb rg, hrs. Otto von loeder, Pauline von

Donop, Miss Antoinette von Donop, who later became Lrs.

Rudolph von Roeder, John einermann and family, William

rels, and others.

ITe early settlers of Cat Spring encountered all the

hardships and privatIons of pioneer life. Log houses had to

be built; and Mr. i. Hartman, who came to Cat Spring in

1847, says that the sons of von Roeder cut down trees about

four inches thick, set them in the ground at intervals of

two feet, nailed shingles on the outside, made the roof,

doors, and windows of shingles and filled the spaces with

clay and wood. 7  One of the two houses had a floor and a

ceiling made from planks sawed by hand from post oak trees.

. L&. Biesele, Te H;isto o a the German Settlements
in Texas, p. 49.
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Robert Kleberg says that in 1835 they enclosed a field of

ten acres and planted it in corn and cotton. Then they

moved as much of their furniture as they had use and room

for from Harrisburg to Cat Spring. In Harrisburg they left

many valuable articles that were burned during the Texas

Revolution.

The first German settlement in Colorado County was

Frelsburg, which is located a fe niles east of the main

branch of Cummins Creek. The place was named after William

Frels, the first settler there. The settlement did not de-

velop rapidly; a description of tbe place in 1846 says that

the settlement was rather extended, with great distances

between the different houses. Another description, in

1852, says there were a store, a post-office, a blacksmith

shop, a few houses, and a Catholic Church in the settlement.8

-illheim is in the fertile valley of the 1ill Creek,

northeast of Cat Spring in Aust in County, and is an off-

shoot of Cat Spring. The date of the founding is not cer-

tain, but it was about 1845. It did not get its name for

several years. William Schneider suggested the name of

huehlh>im, which the Americans pronounced IilLheim. The

German settlers of the co;unity were Louis Kleberg, Hugo

Zapp, F. Engelking, Carl Wernmohs, Marcus and Fritz Amsler,

H. Vornkahl, H. Bolton, Ernst Kleberg, Louis Constant,

8. L. Biesele, The History of the German Settlements
in Texas, p. 51.
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W. I'eersmann, A. Hagemann, F. Langha mer, E. Kloss, Alexander

Kloss, J. R. +ilm, Robert Iloss, J. H. Krancher, Rudolph

Goebel, WIlhelm Schneider, Carl Schneider, August and Otto

Goebel, F. Buntzel, Theodore Brosig, B. Siegert, E. G.

Maetze, Andreas Friedrich Trenc ann, F. Heinecke, Dr. H.

Nagel, A. Regenbrecht, and A. Klnewer. 9  The greater part

of these settlers became farmers; but among them were also

blacksmiths, wheelwrights, carpenters, shoemakers, tailors,

br ck3asons, a cabinet mIaker, a saddler, a tanner, and a

tinner. The Bern and Prairie, extending from the Brazos to

the Colorado, was a ranch free for cattle and horses. So

sone of the settlers were cattle and horse raisers, and a

few raised sheep. Corn bread, bacon, molasses, and coffee,

with an occasional fish and piece of venison, were the prin-

cipal foods of the German pioneers.

Of the German settlements in the lower Brazos-Colorado-

Guadalupe region, Yorktown became the largest and was the

result of a definite plan to establish a town. Yorktown

is in DeWitt County and was laid out in 1848. The town was

named for John York, who on April 1, 1848, entered into an

agreement with Charles Eckhardt, Theodore miller, C.

DeShutz, and John L. iMueller. York Mave them a half inter-

est In his league of land for one dollar in cash, while the

* L. Biesele, The History the German Settlements
n Texas, p. 54.
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other men were to lay out a town or building lots, blocks

and acre lots. The were to take care of the expenses for

surveying, napping, recording, and advertising. York was

to have each alternate lot, block and acre lot, and the

town was to be called Yorktown.

Meyersville was a Geman settlement in the Coleto

neighborhood, and was named for Adolph Meyer, who founded

it in 1849. He made a contract with the Society for the

Protection of German Immigrants in Texas to go to the Miller

and Fisher grants, but decided to remain in the region of

Victoria County. The town grew up in two sections about

two miles aart on both banks of the Coleto in DeWitt County.

The German settlement of Welcome was started in the

northern part of Austin County. The earliest settlers were

Carothers, S. A. Shelburne, i. Davis, and others; but they

did not give the place its name. It was not until about

1852 that the German settlers moved into the region. The

chief persons interested in establishing this settlement

were four German school t eachers: A. Vogelsang, J. F. Sclnidt,

D. I.. Selling, and Carl Kruse. Schmidt gave the settle-

rment its name of Welcome because the forest, field, meadows,

and flo wers seemed to give the people a friendly welcome.

Several other German settlements were made near the East

Texas Ti ber Region. These settlements were in Fayette,

Jashington, Austin, Colorado, DeWitt, and Victoria Counties.

Victoria County had one German settlement, Washington and
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De<itt had two eauch, Colorado had three, and Austin and

Fayette had six each. All of them grew slowly but steadily,

and only Coletoville was abandoned.l0

The Society for the Protection of German Immigration was

organized to direct immigration to Texas. The original pur-

pose of the society was the purchase of land on which they

were planning to settle German immigrants. Prince Victor of

Leiningen and Count Joseph of Boos-Waldeck were sent to Tex-

as in 1842 to make arrangements for buying the land. They

asked that the society's colonists be exempted from taxa-

tion for several years, but the Congress of Texas refused to

make any change in the colonization law. Count Joseph of

Boos-Waldeck bought a tract of land not far from Industry.

It was in the eastern part just outside the Timber Region.

The cost was seventy-five cents an acre, which amounted to

three thousand, three hundred and twenty-one dollars.

Through the amended colonization law of the Republic of

Texas, the Society acquired two contracts. On October 1,

1837, the Congress of Texas passed a law to discontinue

giving lands to immigrants. 1 1  On January 4, 1839, a law

was passed that all free white persons who had come to Tex-

as since October 1, 1837, and who wight come to Texas before

January 1, 1840, could have more land. The head of a family

10. L. Biesele, The History of theGerman Settlements
in Texas, .p 52-65.

1H. p. .4. am1mel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1324.
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was to receive six hundred and forty acres; and a single,

free white man over seventeen years of age was to have

three hundred and twenty acres. Those receiving the grants

were to pay the fees of office and surveyin7 and were re-

quired to reside and remain in Texas for three years. 1'2

Dissatisfaction arose in 1843 over the colonization law,

and congress passed a bill for the repeal of all laws in

force which gave the president authority to grant coloni-

zation contracts.l3 The repeal bill was passed over Pres-

ident Houston's veto.

Ernst's daughter wrote a short description of her first

years in Indu.stry. Her life was similar to that of all the

settlers in the German colonies. The first house the fam-

ily built was a little hut covered with straw, which had

six sides made of moss. The roof was not waterproof, and

the family often held umbrellas over the beds when it rained

at night. The cows would come up to the house and eat the

moss on the sides. The people naturally suffered a great

deal in winter, because there was no adequate way of build-

ing a fire. Mr. Ernst built a chimney and fireplace out of

logs and clay, but he was afraid to light a fire because

the house could easily burn.- There were no stores at which

to buy new articles; so when their shoe supply gave out,

they had to go barefoot because they did not know how to

l H. P. m. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, pp. 35-36.

13H. P. N. Ganmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, pp. 958-959.
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make moccasins. They had no spinning wheel and loom; so

they were also in need of clothing. At first the family

had very little to eat. The main item of food was corn

bread, but later they raised cowpeas. rr. Ernst cultivated

an orchard and a garden as soon as he was able. They had

no cooking stove and had to bake their bread in a skillet.

The ripe corn was boiled until it was soft, and then grated

and baLed. The family lived in their doorless and window-

less house for three years.1 This was the sittuotin in

most of the early German settlements.

Robert Kleberg, who came to Texas in 1834, said he

wished to live under a republican form of government, with

personal, religious, and political liberty, free from petty

tyrannies and the disadvantages and evils of Germany. He

soon had an opportunity to fight for the se, and during the

Texas Revolution the few German settlers fought for their

adopted country and helped to win its independence. It was

a trying time for them to leave their homes to go with Hous-

ton's army, and it was worse to return to their homes and

find them in ashes. According to the muster rolls, about

one hundred German settlers were actively engaged in the

Texas Revolution. Most of them 2 ouwht with Houston at the

battle of San Jacinto, and a few were massacred at Goliad.

14. von Hinweber, "Life of German Pioneers in Early
Texas, "Texas Historical Association fuarterl, II (1899)
228-229.
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The German settlers were hard workers, and their per-

severance helped them to overcome the discomforts and hard-

ships of frontier life. Most of them were engaged in agri-

culture and stock raising. A few of them were engaged in

manufacture and trade and helped in the industrial develop-

ment of t he state. They were especially interested in edu-

cation and religion, enjoyed music and draatic art, and had

their dramatic, literary, and singing societies.

=any of the German settlements provided elementary

schools for their children. The first ones were founded by

L. C. Ervendberg and Dr. Johann Anton Fisher at Industry,

Cat Spring, Biegel, La Grange, and Columbus from 1840 to

1844 in connection with Protestant congregations which

Ervendberg organized. The first school in Comfort was or-

ganized in 1856 by an American named Glass; and in other

cormunities where the German element was well represented,

schools were organized for the education of the children.

In September, 1842, thirty-eight iexibers of Austin

County asked the Texas Congress for the incorporation of

Hermannts University; and on January 27, 1844, the University

was incorporated and a league of land was donated to it by

the Congress of Texas.15 The University was to be located

somewhere between Mill and Cumxeins Creeks, and was to be

managed by a president and twelve trustees.

In the periods from 1840 to 1844, Ervendberg and Dr.

151. P. N. Gemmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, pp. 948-950.



107

Johann Anton Fisher organized Protestant congregations in

Industry, Cat Spring, Biegel, La Grange, and Columbus. At

a synodal meeting of German ministers at Industry in 1841,

a constitution was made for the regulation of the different

churches.

in general the Germans met their discomforts and bore

the burdens of building new homes in Texas with American

pioneer spirit. Their schools, churches, and societies

helped them feel at home in Texas, and they had a high re-

gard for their adopted state. They led a very simple life,

and even the richest ones did not enjoy any special comforts

or luxuries. Almost everything they used was either home-

made or homegrown. The life on plantations cultivated by

Germans was different from life on plantations cultivated

by slaves. 1 6 The planter and slave owner usually lived a

life of ease and indolence, while on a German farm the own-

er and every member of the family worked, using the some

system of intensive farming that they used in Germany. In

German settlements and cities, almost all trade and indus-

tries were in the hands of thrifty and skilled German me-

chanics and tradesmen, while the Americans were lawyers,

physicians, wholesale merchants, civil engineers, bankers

and brokers, land agents, lumbermen, cotton factors, and

public officials.

n. Tiling, _ihe German Element in Texas, p. 128.



OUHAPTiE VI

EAST TEXAS--1836 TO 1848

Before the battle of San Jacinto and independence, the

president of Texas had been merely a provisional officer not

elected by the people. In September, 1836, the people were

asked to elect a president, senators, and representatives.

The victory at San Jacinto made SmHouston an idol and won

for him the presidency of the Repbulic of Texas. Mirabeau

B. Lmar became vice-president. Houston's first act was to

unite the country and to secure the undivided support of the

people. He selected the ablest men he could find to help

him carry on the work of the government. Stephen F. Austin

become Secretary of State and Henry Smith Secretary of the

Treasury.1

Volunteer soldiers and immigrants came into Texas in

large numbers during the summer of 1836, and there was a

great deal of excitement and disorder which naturally fol-

lows a war. Irmig;rants from the United States were attracted

by the promise of land, or b sympathy for a people strug-

gling against despotism, or by love of adventure. Newcom-

ers lying in wait to begin new schemes, and reckless men

who were stirring up wild and mutinous movements threatened

the stability of the government. All through the s'uamer and

autumn of 1836 There were rumors of another Mexican inva-

J. L. Wortham, History of Texas, Vol. III, p. 273.

108



109

sion. New settlers continued to arrive, and in 1846 the

country between the Red River and the coast and between the

Sabine and Nueces Rivers was sprinkled. with American farms

and villages.

A general land office was established, and land officers

were appointed in each district. 2  Land laws were passed to

prevent fraud, to protect the helpless, to encourage immi-

grants, and to settle claims that arose because the public

land had been granted by so many different authorities.

Land was to be surveyed into sections of six hundred and

forty acres, and. the boundary between the United States and

Texas was to be settled by commissioners.

Nearly all of the people of Texas wanted their inde-

pendence recognized and wanted Texas to be a part of the

United States, because most of the settlers came from the

Union. William =. Wharton, and later Memucan Hunt, was sent

as special commissioner to Washington. A resolution declar-

ing Texas to be free and independent and providing for an

agent to Texas was introduced into the United States Senate

on March 1, 1837, and passed by a small majority. The ques-

tion of annexation was brought up, but it met with little

favor by the United States government; so Houston instructed

Anson tones, minister to the United States, to withdraw

the proposition of annexation. France recognized Texas in

2H. P. IN. ammnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1276.
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September, 1839, and England recognized it in 1840.3

hen the independence of Texas was recognized in 1837,

the United States had to make a boundary agreement with the

Rerublic. Both nationss agreed to accept the line as given

in the Adams-Onis Treaty.4  When Texas was annexed to the

United States, its legislature asked to have Congress change

its eastern boundary so as to extend the jurisdiction of

Texas over the west half of Sabine Pass, Sabine Lake, Sabine,

River and to the 32 degree north latitude. Congress passed

an act fixing the eastern boundary of Texas along the mid-

dle of the channel of those waters already named.

Early in 1837, rumors were spread that there was an

intended attack on the towns of San Augustine and Nacogdoches

by the Mexicans and Indians. Evidence was found that a con-

spiracy was being planned, and the leaders were expecting

aid from the Indians and Mexicans of that region. A group

of Mexicans in San Augustine County did rebel under the

leadership of Vincente Cordova, Nathaniel Norris, and Cruz.

They started for the Cherokee Nation and disclaimed their

allegiance to Texas. General husk of Nacogdoches formed a

group of citizens to break up the rebellion; but the rebels

dispersed without any fighting, and the Indians claimed they

Z. Rather, "Recognition of the Republic of Texas by
the United States, " Texas Historical Association Quarterl.y,
XIT (1910), 253.

C0. R.harton, texas_ Undle r n Fas, V of.«I,

pp. 115-117.
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had nothing to do with the rebellion. A special term of

court was held at San Augustine, and several persons were

tried and convicted of treason. Cordova fled from East

Texas; and although he was pursued by the rangers, he fi-

nally escaped into iexico. The rebellion was suppressed,

but it helped to lead to the Cherokee ar, for it seemed

that the Indians had been involved.

Sar iHouston was a Cherokee chief by adoption, and he

liked the Indians, for they were his friends and they be-

lieved in hinm. In February, 1836, Houston had made a treaty

with the Indians in northeast Texas, and cthe Cherokees were

among those tribes.' It provided that the Cherokees should

have and possess the land north of the San Antonio Road be-

tween the Sabine and the Angelina Rivers. The Indians were

to stay in their territory and the Texans were not to in-

trude; so the Indians remained passive during the Texas Rev-

olution. when the Cherokees came to East Texas, they tried

to ,et land grants from texico; but they were only given

permission to occupy the land during good behavior. It has

been estimated thrt the Cherokee and other East Texas tribes

associated with themn had more than 1,500 warriors and five

times that many people at the beginning of the Revolution.

lhen Lamar became president of the Republic in 1838,

he sent an agent to tell the Cherokees that because of their

5.. Wharton, Texas Under Many Fi&g, Vol. I, p. 341.
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repeated crimes against the whites and because of their in-

trigues ith the Mexicans in the Cordova rebellion, they

must leave Texas and go back to the territory of the United

States from which they had come twenty years before. 6 The

Indians refused to leave even though they knew the white

men would take their lands and drive them out. They had no

real title to the land, but Sam Houston had confirmed their

right to the country by treaty; so they would not leave

peacefully. The settlers were determined upon the immediate

expulsion of the Cherokees; therefore they organized a force

to fight them. The Cherokees were defeated and moved north,

where they joined scattered remnants of their once powerful

tribe and located in the Cherokee Pation. So East Texas was

left for the white settlers.

The settlers were having trouble in Shelby County, which

involved nearly all of East Texas. Shelby County was near

the Neutral Ground, a strip of land twenty miles wide on the

east side of the Sabine River which the American and Mexican

governments had agreed to be neutral territory. Neither

country exercised jurisdiction over the region, and there

was no law in the territory; so desperadoes, outlaws, rob-

bers, and other outcasts of society gathered in the Neutral

Ground. After the American colonization in 1824 and again

after the independence of Texas, some of the desperadoes

C. . Wharton, Texas Under Iany Fla.s, Vol. II,
. 49.
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crossed the Sabine and settled in what is now Shelby County,

with a few in Sabine and San Augustine Counties. In the new

count ry the men continued to live their lawless lives. They

were gamblers, land pirates, horse thieves, negro thieves,

counterfeiters, robbers, swindlers, and, in some cases, mur-

derers. They were well organized and carried on their work

in Shelby County while pretending to be good citizens. When
the honest people learned of the work being carried on by

the band, they decided to end their lawless activities.

Charles v. Jackson, a man of evil character and of bad

reputation, organized a band of men called Regulators for

the purpose of suppressing crime. Actually the men were to

protect him against the enemy. The men opposing him organ-

ized a group called Moderators with Edward Merchant as

leader. The 1Moderators and the Regulators waged war with

each other. The Regulators took the town of Shelbyville

and made it the headquarters for the band. A man named

Moorman became leader of the Regulators and ordered twenty

five of te leading citizens of Shelby County exiled or put

to death. The better class of citizens determined to rid

the county of these undesirable characters. Additional men

joined each side, and men had to band together for safety.

The people were not safe in their homes. Sam Houston, Pres-

ident of the Republic, realized something had to be done

about the situation in East Texas; so he commanded all

citizens engaged in the trouble to lay down their arms and
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to po home. He also called out the militia forces of San

Augustine, Sabine, Husk, and Nacogdoches Counties and or-

dered the arrest of the ten leading men of each party. The

men were arrested and taken to San Augustine by order of

the -resident. Court was held, and a set of resolutions for

peace and order was signed by members of both parties. Af-

ter order and peace were restored, citizens could go back

to their homes and live peacefully. 7

When Texas became independent, the Texas Congress be-

gan to create and to organize counties. Some of these were

entirely within the East Texas Timber Region and some were

partly in that section. The following counties were cre-

ated in 1836.

Jasper County was named for William Jasper, a hero of

the American Revolution. The boundary line began on the

Sabine River at the northeast corner of Jefferson County

and continued along its boundary to the ieches River. It

followed t:is river to old Fort Terran and ran in direct

line to the mouth ofPBig Bear Creek. It followed the creek

to Jones' bridge, then went in a direct line to McKims on

to Evil's ferry on the Sabine. 9

L. Rocket, Two Centuries in East Texas, pp.
196-201.

8Z. T. Fulmore, The History and Geora of Texas as
Told in County Names, pp. 208-217. J. L. Clark and L. W~

Newton, Texas: Its History and Resources (ap).

1,1. P. Y. Garmmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. 1, p. 1397.
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Nacogdoches County received its name from one of the

Texas tribes in the Hasinai Confederacy. The boundary line

began on the southeast corner of Rush County and went down

the Attoyac River to its junction with the Angelina River

and up that river to the southern boundary line of Rusk

County. The line then went east to the place of the begin-

n~ingy "o

The large cypress forest through which the Sabine Piv-

er flows gave the name Sabine, or cypress, to the river and

to the county which was located along the river. It in-

cluded the territory rest of the Sabinee IRiver, south of

Shelby, east of San Augustine County, and north of Jasper

that was not a part of another county.l

in 175G the Spanish built a presidio which they called

San Augustine in honor of Saint Augustine. The surrounding

county was given the some name, and the boundary line began

at the Shelby county line on the Attoyac River and contin-

ued along t he line to the county of Sabine. It then ran to

the crossing of the road over the Pollygotch bayou and west

on a line to hr. Presnallts, then southeast to the road

leading from San Augustine to Zavala and along the road to

Jasper. The line continued to the Angelina River and up

the river to the mouth of the Attoyac and up the west baik

10o. P. 14. Camimel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1400.

1H. P. . Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 395.
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to the place of beginning. 1 2

Shelby County was named for Isaac Shelby. The bound-

ary line started at the mouth of the small bayou that emp-

tied into the Sabine River just below the town of Hamilton

and went up the bayou to the crossing of the road leading

from Hamilton to San Augustine. It followed the road to a

point opposite Buckley's and ran straight, including his

house and that of J. Rowe. it then went in a direct line

to the road leading to San Auustine one and a half miles

from Bradley's to Kerr's ferry on the Attoyac River and

along it to the crossing of Trammel's trail. The line fol-

lowed the trail to the Sabine River and went up the river

to the Cherokee crossing and on the road to Jonesborough

to the Big Cypress bayou. It went from there to Lake Soda

and east to the United States and down the Sabine to the

small bayou.13

Austin County received its name from Stephen F. Austin.

T h e boundary line began on the San Benard at the lower line

of Cole's League of Land and ran east with the upper line of

Fort Bend County to the northeast corner on Buffalo bayou.

From there it went in a northwardly direction with the coun-

ty line between Harrisburg and Austin to the head of Spring

Creek and in a direct line to Pond Creek. The line ran to

I 'H. P. N. Gammel, Las of exas, Vol. I, p. 1394.

1H P. N. Ga el, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1390.
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Beason's Creek, crossing the Brazos River, to the mouth of

Coney Creek and up the creek with the line of Washington

County to its source. It continued along this line to

Harmon Jansley's grant on to David Shelby's grant, then to

Samuel 0. Pettis' and from there in a direct line to the

head of San Benard to the lower line.14

Bastrop County was named in honor of Baron de Bastrop,

and the boundary line began at the northwest corner of

Isaac Casner's land grant on the dividing line between this

county and Milam County. It went on a direct line to the

lower corner of a league granted to Y. Duty and across the

Colorado River on a direct line to where the dividing line

between Bastrop and Gonzales intersects the road leading

from Iacogdoches to San Antonio.15

Colorado County was named for the Colorado River and

was at first a municipality. The boundary began at the

crossing of the lower line of the Municipality of Austin on

the main Benard, then went west on the line to DeWitt's

colony. It followed the DeWitt colony line to Buckner's

Creek and followed it to the La Bahia road, then went east

along the road to the Middle Ground between Yill Creek and

Curmins Creek. It ran to the main fork of the San Benard

and down it to the place of beginning.16

14 H1. P. N. Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1520.

15TH. . . Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 428.

16H. P. N. Gammel, Laws ol Texas, Vol. I, p. 1034.



118

Goliad County's boundary lines were deterined by the

f allowing law:

Beginning on the Coleto creek, on the line of
\efuglo district, being the upper line as run by
illian richardson, deputy surveyor of Refugio

county, and running with said line to the Aransas
river; thence up said river with the meanders, to
the crossing of th.e Mier road; thence N. ;. to the
line of Bexar district; thence with said line to
the SanAntonio river, at the mouth of the Cibolo;
thence N. 15 deg. East to the Gonzales district
line; thence fith said line South Easterly to the
inter section of the N. >'. boundary of DeWitt
county; thence with said boundary S. 51 deg. V. to
the W. corner thereof, as established by an act of
the Legislature in 1848; thence S. 39 deg. E. with
the S. . boundary line of DeWitt county, to a
roint S. 51 deg. W. of the S. corner of Gonzales
district; thence N. 51 deg. E. to the Goleto creek
and down the same to the beginning.1 7

The town of Gonzales, which had received its name from

Raphael Gonzales, gave the ncve to Gonzales County. The
boundaryr line began on the west bank of the Lavaca Piver at

the lower corner of a piece of land deeded to Andrew Kent

and continued on a line to where the La Bahia road crossed

the Guadalupe iver. It continued in th4 same direction for

fifteen miles from the river to a point on the southwest

corner and went to the crossing of the road leading from

Gonzales to San Antonio on the western branch of the Sandies.

It thenowent to the upper San Antonio road and along it to

the northeast corner of Deitt's colony and along its bound-

ary &o the Lavaca Aiver. 1 8

Harris County was first Harrisburg and was changed to

7 -P. -. *Gameel, Laws o Tens, Vol. III, p. 26.

18. p . . .amel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1384.
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HarrPi in honor of J. R. Harris. The boundary began at the

entrance of Clear Creek into Galveston Bay, running up the

creek with the line of the aunicirality of Brazoria, and

along the line to the Brazos River. It followed the river

to the upper line of a league of land granted to Isaacs,

and ran along the line to the northeast corner of the

league. It then went north to include the settlements on

Spring Creek to the southern line of the Municipality of

ashingyton and far enough east to intersect the line divid-

ing Jthe Department of Brazos and Nacogdoches. It ran along

that line to Galveston Bay.19

Liberty County took its name from the town of Liberty.

Its boundary began on the Gulf of Mexico at the southwestern

corner of Jefferson County and then went north along its

western boundary to the Big Sandy Creek and down it to the

Neches River. It then ran up the river to the southeast

corner of Houston County and south along its southern bound-

ary to the Trinity River. Then it ran across the river in

the scme direction for nine miles in a direct line to the

head of Cedar bayou and down it to the Gulf of Mexico. 2 0

A county was named for Benjamin hilam. The western

boundary line ran with the dividing ridge of the waters of

the Brazos and Colorado Rivers from the place where the east

boundary line of Bexar County struck the ridge to the

1. P. N. Gamomel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1022.

20 PHP. H. Garrm1el, Laws of_ eas,9 Vol. I, p. 1426.
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uppermost point of the cross timbers. It then continued

northeast to the Brazos River. 2 1

Red River County was named for the river of the sane

name. Its boundary began at the mouth of the Bois d'Arc,

followed it to the Carter Cliffs and crossed south to a

place wrest of the head of the Big Cypress. It continued

east to its head, down to Sodo Lake and east to the United

States boundary line to Red River back to the beginning. 2 2

The town and county of Victoria were named for Guadalupe

Victoria, the first president of the Republic of lexico. The

boundary line between Matagorda and Victoria began on a

league in the Gulf and went in a direct line to the main

channel of the Pass Cavallo. It continued to the main chan-

nel of La Vaca Bay to the western boundary of Matagorda

County.23

Vashington County was named for George Washington. It

began at the mouth of Caney Creek and the boundary line went

up the creek to its most northwestern source and went to the

southeast corner of the Harmon Hensley land grant. It then

went west on the ridge dividing the waters of Cumming' s

Creek and the waters of New Years and Yegua Creeks, then

north along the ridge with the eastern boundary of the

21U. P. K. Gramel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 15065.

H. P. N. aGnrel, Laws of Texas, Vol. 1, p. 1431.

0
0 H. P. N. Gamnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 566.
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counties of Fayette and Mina to the old San Antonio road.

It went east along the road to the Navasota River to Caney

Creek.24

The following counties were created in 1837.

Houston County, named for SamHouston, was at first a

part of Nacogdoches County. It included all of Nacogdoches

in the boundary beginning on the east bank of the Trinity

River two leagues above the mouth of Kickapoo Creek, and

went from there in a northeasterly direction to the Neches

at the outh of Big Fine Creek. It continued along the

Neches to the thirty-second degree north latitude, then due

west to the Trinity River and down it to the place of the

begining on the Trinity River. 2 5

Fannin County was namied for James Walker Fannin. The

boundary line began at the mouth of Bois d'Arc Creek on Red

River and went up the creek to the crossing at the residence

of Carter T. Cliff, It then went south as far as sixty miles

from the beginning on a straight line, then west to a point

south of thle head of the upper Washita. From there the line

ran north to Red River to the place of beginning, unless sur-

veying should be made void by the act creating the boundary.2 6

Fayette County was named for the Marquis de La Fayette.

The county line began at Grassmeyer's ferry on the Colorado,

2411. P. . Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1391.

HUT. P. 1. amrel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1330.

2611. P. N. Gamnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 368.
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going in a northeasterly direction at right angles with the

general course of the Brazos River to the divide between the

waters of the Brazos and the.Colorado down the divide to the

southeast corner of the William Burnett grant. The line

then vent southwardly, crossing the Colorado River where the

upper line of the J. Duty grant corners upon the river and

following the same course to the Lavaca and to the upper

corner of the Willim Ponton grant. It then went up the

Lavaca with the line between Austin's and DeWitt's colo-

nies to the head of the stream, then in a northeasterly di-

rection to the place of beginning. 2 7

Uontgomery County was named for Richard Montgomery and

included all of Washington County lying east of the Brazos

River and southeast of the Navasota River. 2 8

The county of Robertson was named in honor of Sterling

0. Robertson, and the boundary line began at the northwest

corner of Brazos County, going up the Brazos River twenty-

five hundred varas above the northwest corner of a survey

made for John Welch. It then went north sixty degrees east

to the Navasota River, and down it to the Brazos county

line.29

Only one county in the East Texas Timber Region was

27H. P. N. Gnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. 1, p. 1377.

28H. P. N. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 1375.

29J. P. N. Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1366.
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created in 1839, and it was named Harrison in honor of Jonas

Harrison. The boundary line began at the mouth of Murval's

bayou in a direct line to Norris' crossing of the Attoyac

River and continuing to its source or to the crossing of

Trammel's trace. It followed the trace to the Sabine River,

going up t he river to the Cherokee crossing and along the

road leading to Jonesborough to the Big Cypress bayou. It

then went down the road to Lake Soda, then east to the United

States boundary line and due south to the Sabine River and

along it to Murval's bayou.30

Two counties in this region were created in 1840. One

was named Bowie County for James Bowie. The boundary line

began on the Red River at Shaw's ferry and ran due south to

the southern boundary line of Red River County. It then

went east to the line between the United States and Texas,

following the line to ed River and back to Shaw's ferry.3 1

The other county was named for Mirabeau B. Lamar, and

the boundary line began at the mouth of Upper Pine Creek,

with the line going due south to Big Cypress and up that

stream to its source. It then went due west to the Fannin

county line and along it to the Red River, and down the

river to the beginning of the county line. 3 2

H. P. R. Gamnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, r. 159.

1H. . N. Gamriel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 561.
2H. P. . Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 561.
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Two other counties in the East Texas Timoer Region

were created in 1841 and in 1843 respectively. One of

then was named Brazos because of the Brazos River. It is a

triangvlar-shaped piece of land with the Brazos and the

Navasota River s forming two sides and the northern boundary

beint marked by the old San Antonio road west from the Nav-

as ta River to a point on the road south of Leander Harl's

place. A straight line follows to the crossing of the

Brazos at old Fort Tenoxtitlan. 3 3

The other county was named for Thomas J. Rusk, and the

eastern boundary line began at the southwest corner of said

county as now established. It ran due north to the Sabine

River and followed up t he Sabine as already established.34

Texas created many counties in 1846, and the following

are in the East Texas Timber Region.

Anderson County was named 1forKenneth L. Anderson, and

the boundary line began at Houston :Mound in Houston County

about one-half mile north of Murchison's prai re. It con-

tinued westwardly by a direct line through the old Tonio

village on the Korth Elkhart Creek and went to the Trinity

River. It began again at Houston's Mount, continuing the

direct line eastwardly to the Neches Piver, then going up

the river to the northeast corner of John Ferguson's land.

o. d. Johnson, Texas and the Texans, Vol. II, p. 740.

1. P. L.. a ;el, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1054.
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It continued a direct line parallel to the first line to the

Trinity River and down to intersect the first line.35

Angelina County received its name from the Angelina

liver; the boundary line began where the Jasper county line

corners on the Angelina fiver. It went up the river to the

southern boundary line of the Cherokee county line at the

lower end of Juan Cruiz's Island, then south fifty degrees

west with said line to the Neches River. The line contin-

ued down the Neches River to the Jasper county line and

along that line north eighty degrees east to the place of

beginina,.30

Cass County was named for General Lewis Cass, and the

boundary line began in the middle of Big Cypress bayou five

and a half miles east of where the old line run by Sedawn

dividing the counties of Bowie and Red River ran into the

bayou. The line then went due north to the Sulphur fork of

the Red River and down the middle of Sulphur fork to the old

United States line, then due south to the middle of Lake

Soda. It continued up the middle of the lake to its head

and up the Cypress bayou to the mouth of Boggy River. 3 7

Cherokee Count y received its name from the Cherokee

Indians, and at first it was a part of Nacogdoches County.

35I. p. N. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1326.

H. P. h. Gamrmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1426.

H7R. P. 1. Ca- el, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1441.
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The boundary created for the county began at a point on the

Neches River due west from the southeast corner of the

Neches-Sabine survey and went east to the southeast corner

thereof. It continued east to the western boundary of Rusk

County and south along that line to the southwest corner,

then east to the Angelina River. It followed the river to

the lower end of Juan Cruz's survey of an island in the

Angelina River to a point opposite the lower end of the

island on the west bank of the river. It then went south

fifty degrees west to the Neches River and followed it north

to the point of beginning.38

Newton County was named for Sergeant John Newton. The

boundary line between Newton and Jasper Counties began at

the southest corner of survey number one on the southern

line of the Jasper land district and went northwardly to

the eastern corner of G. B. Brownrigg's labor. It then

went northwardly to the northeast corner of Thomas E. Hen-

intin's survey and continued in a direct line to Mclinis'

place on the Sabine county line.39

Panola County, named for the Indian word t panolo, t "

meaning cotton, began on the boundary line of Louisiana and

of Harrison County two miles south of a point east of Ed-

ward Smith's. It then went north to the center channel of

H. P. N. G anel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1369.

P. N. Garmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, p. 1011.
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Ferry Lake and up that lake to the mouth of the Big Cypress

bayou. It went up the bayou to the crossing of Cherokee

trace, following it south ard to the Sabine River and down

it to a point directly west of the place of starting. 4 0

Pok County was named for James Knox Polk, and the

boundary began on the east side of the Trinity River at the

mouth of ienard's Creek. It then went east eighteen miles

and changed to the southern boundary of Houston County,

crossing the road leading from Swartont to Bell's ferry,

two miles west of Peter Cauble's. It went west along the

Houston county line to the TrinIty River, going in the same

direction to the eastern boundary line of Montgomery County,

and changing to a southerly direction along that line to a

point opposite the place of beginning. 4 1

Smith County, named for General James Smith, was at

first a -part of Nacogdoches County. The boundary began at

a point due north sixteen miles from Nlacogdoches, then went

due east to the Attoyac Creek and due west thirty miles.

It then ran due north to the Sabine River and down the riv-

er to the crossing of Trammel's trace, going along it south

and then west to where the trace crosses the west boundary

line of J. Adam's league. It then ran to the Attoyac River

and down it to the Lttoyac Creek. 4 2

40. P. d. Gaammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 617.

4l.P. . amel, Las of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1333.

42H. P. N. Garmnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 759.
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Titus County was named for A. J. Titus. The boundary

began at the southeast corner of Hopkins County, going north

to the middle of the Big Sulphur fork of Red River and down

the middle of the stream to a point five and one-half miles

below where the western boundary line of Bowie County crosses

the sane. It then went south to Cypress and up the stream

to the mouth of the dry fork of the same, then up it to a

point due east of the beginning point and on to the south-

east corner of Hopkins County. 4 3

Tyler County was named for John Tyler, and the boundary

line began on the west side of the Meches River where the

Houston county line meets it. It went west along this line

to the line established as the western boundary of Polk

County and in a southerly direction along the line twenty-

five miles. It then went south to Village Creek and down

the creek with the line of Jefferson County to the Neches

River and up the river to the place of beginning.44

Upshur County was named for Abel P. Upshur. The bound-

ary line began at the southeast corner of George Martin's

survey and the north corner of R. M. Watkin's survey on Big

Cypress bayou. It then went south to the Sabine River and

up the river to a point one mile above Harris' Creek in

Nacogdoches County. The line then went north to the dry

43. P. 1. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1504.

44H. P. N. Gammel, Laws P Texas, Vol. II, p. 1348.
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for#k of Big Cypress and with the dry fork and Big Cypress

to the place of beginning. 4 5

Walker County was named in honor of Robert John walker.

th boundary began in the middle of the Trinity river at

Robbins' ferry and wen t along the San Antonio road to the

northwest corner of the L. G. Clipper survey. It then fol-

loved a straight line to the northwest corner of a survey

made for James B. Collard and going straight to a point on

the San Jacinto river three miles below the mouth of East

Sandy Creek straight with the general course of the San

Jacinto. It ran due east to the west boundary line of Polk

County, following it to its northwest corner and along the

nor boundary to the middle of the Trinity River.4 6

Burleson County was named for Colonel Burleson. The

boundary line began on the Brazos River at the northeast

corner of H. E. Davis' survey below Nashville and followed

south sixty degrees west to the eastern boundary of Bastrop

Count. It continued along that line in a southeasterly

direction to the old San Antonio road and along it in a

northeasterly direction to the south branch of the Yegua,

following it to its junction with the Ye0guia. The line fol-

loed the Yegua to the Brazos River. 4 7

45H. P. LI. Ga mmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1445.

4HP. . Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 553.

47H
.P. . Gmmel, Lars of Texas, Vol. II, p. 708.
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Caldwell County, named for Matthew Caldwell, began its

boundary line at the mouth of Plum Creek on the San Marcos

River and continued it north forty-five degrees east to the

southwest boundary of Bastrop County. The line ran from

there north forty-five degrees west along the boundary until

it reached the San Antonio road and Travis line; then it

went in a southwesterly direction on the road to the San

Marcos River, following it to Plum Creek. 4 8

Cooke County was naed for W. T. Cooke, and the bound-

ary line began on the Red River at the northwest corner of

Grayson County, then going south to Denton County. On the

west it vent to the northwest corner of Denton County and

then south thirty miles to the southwest corner of the seine

county. It went nest sixtyr miles and north to Red River. 4 9

Denton County, named for John B. Denton, began at the

soitevtst corner of Collin County. The county line then

went west t hirty miles, north thirty miles, east thirty

miles, and south thirty miles. 5 0

Deiltt County was named for Green DeWitt, and the

boundary line began at the lower corner of the Jesse McCoy

grant on the northeast bank of the Guadalupe River, then

going north fifty-one degrees east. It then went south

48H. P. N. Gawrmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. I, p. 54.

49
H. P. N. Gamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, p. 183.

W. P. H. Gammel, Lawst of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1363.



131

thirty-niine degrees east and south fifty-one degrees. The

line ran west to the intersection of the Coleto Creek and

up it to the intersection thereof by the district lines of

Gonzales, then south fifty-one degrees west. It continued

west eighty-two thousand varas from the northeast boundary

line of Gonzales and north thirty-nine degrees west to the

intersection of a line running south fifty-one degrees from

the etse McCoy grant end north fifty-one degrees east to

the beginning. 5 l

Limestone County received its name because of the soil

for 4ati on. The boundary cormmenced at the mouth of Aquilla

Creek where it empties into the Brazos River, then went

north eighty-one degrees east until it intersected the pres-

ent boundary line of the county near the Tehaucana hills.

It continued north sixty degrees east along the line to the

Trinity River.52

Grayson County was named for Peter W. Grayson, and the

boundary began on the Red river at the mouth of Choctaw

bayou, going south twenty-two miles. It then went west

twenty-five miles to the eastern boundary of Denton County

and north one and a half miles to the northeast corner of

Denton County. From -there it went six and a half miles

west and then north to the Red River. 5 3

AH. P. Si. (ammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, n. 40.

"H. P. N. Gaamel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, p. 207.

H. P. N. Gaxmel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, p. 9.
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Grimes County was named for Jesse Grimes. The boundary

line began at the southwest corner of Walker County in a

south'ardly direction to the northeast corner of a league

of land granted to . Montgomery and going to the southeast

corner due south to the Harris county line. It followed the

county line to the head of Spring Creek and from it to Pond

Creek, then in a straight line to the mouth of Beason's

Creek on the Brazos River. It went up this stream to the

mouth of the Navasota and up it to the crossing of the San

Antonio road, follovinx it to the northwestern boundary line

of ,lWalker County. From there it followed the line to the

place of beginning.54

Guadalupe County was named for the Guadalupe River, and

the boundary was determined by the following law:

Beginning at the mouth of Lash's Creek, where
the same empties into the Guadalupe river in Gon-
zales county; running thence, north ten degrees
east, eighteen miles; thence, a true line to a point
on the road leading from San Antonio de Bexar to
Nacogdoches, six miles eastwardly of the river San
tarcos; thence, due west, to the Rio Blanco; thence

up the Rio Blanco, with its meanders, to its source,
thence a true line, to the Pinta Crossing of the
Guadalupe river; thence down the Guadalue, to a
point from which a line running south 45 west will
strike the Cibolo at the crossing of the San An-
tonio and Nacogdoches road; thence down the Cibolo,
witn its nearders, to thc road leading from Gon-
zales to San Antonio; thence, with said road, to a
point due south of the place of beginning; thence
a true line, due north to the place of beginning. 5 5

Henderson County was named for James Pinckney Henderson,

S:H. P. N. Ga mel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1356.

55H. P. Ii. Gamnel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, pp. 750-751.



the first governor of the state of Texas. The boundary

line began at a point on the Trinity River eight miles on a

due course below where a line running due south from the

northeast corner of Dallas County meets the river, and went

north forty-five degrees east to a point due east to the

southeast corner of Dallas County. It then ran east to a

point forty-three miles east of the corner of Dallas County

and south to the north boundary line of Anderson County,

then going west along that line to the Trinity River, fol-

lowing it to the beginning.56

Hopkins County was named for the pioneer Hopkins fam-

ily. The boundary began at the southwest corner of Lamar

County on the line of Fannin County and went south thirty

miles, then east to a point due south of the east boundary

line of Lamar County r-it went north thirty miles and then

west with the southern boundary of Lamar County to the place

of beginning.57

Hunt County was named in honor of General Lemucan Hunt

and was created from territories of Fannin and Nacogdoches

Counties. The boundary began at the southwest corner of

Lamar County, and went south thirty-eight and one-half miles,

then west twenty-five miles. From there it ran north to the

southeast corner of Collin County, following its eastern

boundary to the southern boundary line of Fannin County and

H. P. N. Ga4mel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, p. 86.

57H. P. N. -ammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1330.
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then eighty degrees east to the beginning.58

Lavaca County was naned for the two Spanish words "la"

and "vaca," and the boundary began 7,300 varas north, fifty--

one degrees east from the lower corner of the Jesse McCoy

grant on the east bank of the Guadalupe River. It ran north

to the southwest corner of D. Burket's survey in Gonzales

County, and then north eighty-one degrees east to a point

on the main fork of the East Navidad River, following it to

the northwest corner of A. 7. BreedloveK survey on the east

bank of the river. It followed the north line of Breedlove's

survey east 4,600 varas to a point on the line running, south

thirty-nine degrees east, 40,700 varas and then south fifty-

one degrees west to a point thirty-nine degrees east of the

place of beginning.59

Leon County was named for Martin de Leon. The bound-

ary began on the west bank of the TrinSity River where the

San Antonio road crosses it, and went up the yest bank of

the river to the northeast corner of the A. W. Cooke survey

and the southeast corner of the D. . Brown survey. It

then ran south sixty-one and a half degrees west to the

Navasota River, going along the east bank of the river to

the point where the San Antonio road crosses it. It fol-

lowed the road to the place of beginning. 6 0

H . rammel, Las& sof_ Texas, Vol. II, p. 1364.

54 . P. N. G-amel, Laws of Texas, Vol. II, p. 1355.

H. P. N. Gamnel, Laws of Texas, Vol II, p. 1314.
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Navarro County was named for Juan Antonio Navarro, the

land commissioner for DeWitt's colony in 1831. The boundary

line began on the east bank of the Brazos River at the north-

west corner of Limestone County and followed the line to the

Trinity River. It followed the river to the line of Dallas

County, then went west to the corner and north with the

Dallas county line to the old southern boundary of Fannin

CountY. The line then went west to the Brazos ;iver and

down it to the -place of beginning. 6 1

Three counties of the East Texas Region were created

in 1848. They were Van Zandt, Kaufman, and Williamson.

Kaufman County was namoed in honor of David S. Kaufman.

The boundary line began on the northeast corner of Dallas

County and went south to the Trinity River, following it

for eight miles from the first corner of the river. It

then went north forty-five degrees to a point due east of

the southeast corner of Dallas County and then due east

thirty-six and a half miles east of the said corner of Dal-

las County. It Went north to the south boundary line of

Hunt County, following it to the southwest corner, and then

due north to the southeast corner of Collin County. It

followed the Collin county line west to Dallas County.62

'an Zandt County was named in honor of Isaac Van Zandt.

6Vi. P. . Garrmmel, Laws o Texas, Vol. II, p. 1438.

62iH. P. N. Gammel, Laws of Texas, Vol. III, p. 40.
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The county included all territory that had been in the

county of Henderson which, at the time of creating the new

count y, was not within the limits of the counties of Kauf-

man and Henderson.63

illiamson County was named or Robert k. Yillianson,

and the boundary line began on the dividing waters of the

Colorado and Brazos Rivers at the southeast corner of !he
Post ah Island survey. It then went north seventy-one de-

grees east, eight miles, and north nineteen degrees west,

twenty miles. It ran north sixty-five degrees west to the

dividing ridge between the Brazos and Colorado Rivers, then

down the ridge to the place of beginning. 6 4

Several counties of the ;East Texas Timber Region were

created after 1848. They are Camp, Franklin, Gregg, Hardin,

Madison, :arion, orris, alins, San Jacinto, Trinity, Wood,

Bee, Tarrent, Freestone, AiII, Johnson, Lee, Waller, and Falls

Count:s.

Since most of the settlers were from the United States,

they wanted to become a part of the Union. Just after Tex-

as became independent, President Jackson refused annexation

because many of the states zere opposed to slavery and be-

cause he did not want to become involved in a war with vMexi-

co. Mexico still claimed Texas. The United States decided,

in 1845, to ane Texas as a state even though it might mean

* P. N. Gomel, Laws oTfTexas, Vol. III, p. 149.

64H. P. L. Gammel, Laws o oTexas, Vol. III, p. 76.
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war with Mexico. Texas accepted the proposal to be admitted

as a state; so delegates met at Washington-on-the-Brazos

and formed a state constitution.6 5

With the annexation of Texas, the Mexicans became hos-

tile. The Mexican authorities were already angry because

the American government had been insisting that claims of

American citizens must be paid. A third dispute arose over

the boundary between the United States and Mexico. General

Zachary Taylor moved an American army toward the io Grande

on March 9, 1846, the better to establish the claims of the

United States to the territory between the Nueces and the

Rio Grande Rivers. The movement of Taylor's army caused

fighting between the Americans and the Mexicans, and war was

declared. Governor James Pinckney Henderson led the Texas

troops in the war and served under General Taylor. He led

his men with courage and ability throughout the campaign.

East Texas sent soldiers to the war between the United

States and Mexico. Captain Otis M. Wheeler and Lieutenant

Joseph Baker led a company of volunteers from San Augustine.

Two companies formed in Shelby County, one group being cor-

posed of former Moderators and the other being formed of

Regulators. They fought side by side for a common cause

and forgot about their troubles at home. At the close of

the war, a public dinner was given to the returned soldiers

6 5 J. L. Wortham, A History of Texas, Vol. IV, p. 207.
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and all were invited.

During the time Texas was a republic, its natural re-

sources became apparent and wealth began to increase. In

1836, the total Anglo-American population of Texas was less

than tree thousand; in 1847 the white population was one

hundred thousand. In this great stream of immigration that

flowed into Texas during this period, a few came who had

committed some crime. There were not enough of these to

determine the character of any given locality, but many

jokes and stories were told about them. The reputation of

the state suffered, but Texas continued in progress and

prosperity.

For many years adventurers from Spain and France had

explored Texas. La Salle had attempted a settlement for

France and had failed. For about fifty years Spain had tried

to civilize and Christianize the Indians in East Texas. Fi-

nally the Spanish government had abolished the missions and

presidos. During the following fifty years, very little

had been done toward colonization in Texas.

In 1821, Texas was an almost uninhabited country, with

the exception of savage Indians. The Anglo-Americans came

and changed it into a great state. The East Texas Timber

Region has been the gateway through which most of the set-

tlers came to Texas. The settlers who stopped there did

their part in establishing the present state of Texas. They



endured many hardships so that others coming later could

have homes and opportunities in this land.

t ihout money, without books and magazines and many of

the things we have today., they builded a state. Forced by

their desire for equal rights and by their dread of tyranny,

they stood against the offenses of an organized government

and won freedom. The East Texans did their part in helping

ta win freedom from Mexico so they coup lay a foundation

for Arican civilization there.

The annexation of Texas led to the war between the

United States and Mexico, which resulted in great wealth

and opportunities for the American nation. The United

States, for 15,000,000, obtained the vast and wealthy area

of land extning from. the Gila River on the south to the

forty-second parallel on the north and from the io Grande

on the east to the Pacific Ocean on the west.
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